DEPARTMENT OF COMPUTER SCIENCE SERIES OF PUBLICATIONS A REPORT A-2018-1

### Performative hybrid interaction: Understanding planned events across collocated and mediated interaction spheres

Matti Nelimarkka

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science of the University of Helsinki, for public examination in University Main Building, Auditorium XII, on 9 January 2017, at 12 o'clock.

> University of Helsinki Finland

#### Supervisors

Giulio Jacucci, University of Helsinki and Aalto University, Finland Antti Salovaara, University of Helsinki, Finland Marko Turpeinen, Aalto University, Finland

#### **Pre-examiners**

Sus Lyckvi, Chalmers University of Technology and University of Gothenburg, Sweden Joel Fischer, University of Nottingham, United Kingdom

#### Opponent

Kenton O'Hara, Microsoft Research, United Kingdom

#### Custos

Giulio Jacucci, University of Helsinki and Aalto University, Finland

#### **Contact** information

Department of Computer Science P.O. Box 68 (Gustaf Hällströmin katu 2b) FI-00014 University of Helsinki Finland

Email address: info@cs.helsinki.fi URL: http://cs.helsinki.fi/ Telephone: +358 2941 911, telefax: +358 9 876 4314

Copyright © 2018 Matti Nelimarkka ISSN 1238-8645 ISBN 978-951-51-3932-0 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-3933-7 (PDF) Computing Reviews (1998) Classification: H.5.3, H.5.2, J.4 Helsinki 2018 Unigrafia

# Performative hybrid interaction: Understanding planned events across collocated and mediated interaction spheres

#### Matti Nelimarkka

Department of Computer Science P.O. Box 68, FI-00014 University of Helsinki, Finland matti.nelimarkka@alumni.helsinki.fi http://me.mante.li/

PhD Thesis, Series of Publications A, Report A-2018-1 Helsinki, January 2018, 64+82 pages ISSN 1238-8645 ISBN 978-951-51-3932-0 (paperback) ISBN 978-951-51-3933-7 (PDF)

#### Abstract

There is a division among computer-supported collaboration tools by location (collocated/distributed) and by time (synchronous/asynchronous). Collocated synchronous tools were once given focus in research through studies of group support systems. Today, ubiquitous computing has led to collocated synchronous computing becoming a part of dayto-day life. The practices involved take place in *hybrid space* – a mixture of face-to-face and computer-mediated communication. This very real, concrete phenomenon has been subject to study in the human–computer interaction domain; however, theories examining social interaction in the hybrid space, or *hybrid interaction*, are rare. Such theories may help to advance the design and utilization of tools for hybrid interaction.

Aimed at helping practitioners understand and benefit from hybrid interaction, a study of one form of it was undertaken, with the emphasis on cases wherein the event is organized as a performance and there are spectators and performers. Hence, the focus is on *performative hybrid interaction*: hybrid interaction that is used as part of a performance. The work builds on 14 instances of hybrid interaction examined through mixed-methods approaches. The following observations about social practices were made on the basis of the empirical research:

(i) Hybrid interaction has *social rules* that govern how interaction takes place. In this respect, hybrid interaction is like any social interaction. However, the social rules of hybrid interaction emerge from the rules of both computer-mediated and face-to-face interaction. These two communication channels are interlinked and, therefore, influence one another.

(ii) In performer-oriented settings, it is important to establish social rules that support the performance. Performative hybrid interaction benefits from *active guidance by performers*. This active guidance establishes the social rules and communicates them to spectators. Performers establish these rules in several ways, both onstage and offstage. Yet the technical systems employed do not scaffold and support the active guidance.

(iii) The choices surrounding social rules are *normative decisions*. Therefore, frameworks that account for and reflect these decisions can be helpful for designers and researchers. Frameworks of this nature might be adapted, for example, from political science. They benefit research and design in two ways. Firstly, they often provide a set of validated

empirical methods that make the research more solid. Secondly, they support the design of systems: they justify the design goals and provide a backdrop against which the design ideas evolve.

Discussion proceeding from these findings considers how to improve practices of performative hybrid interaction. The thesis project investigated the importance of accounting for these social practices. Also, I propose further tools for supporting these social practices, such as the script. Furthermore, the thesis contributes to the use of social theories for human-computer interaction, with a synthesis of elements from several fields of research: political science, performance studies, event studies, and sociology. This combination offers insights related to the difficulties and potential problems in performative hybrid interaction. It also provides insight into the role of normative decisions that ought to inform designers and researchers working on performative hybrid interaction.

#### Computing Reviews (1998) Categories and Subject

#### **Descriptors**:

H.5.3 Group and Organization Interfaces

- H.5.2 User Interfaces
- J.4 Social and Behavioral Sciences

#### General Terms:

human-centered computing, collaborative and social computing, computer-supported cooperative work

#### Additional Key Words and Phrases:

hybrid interaction, performative hybrid interaction, performance, Presemo

ii

# Acknowledgments

I thank all my advisers for their mentoring and insights during the research. Without the support of Giulio Jacucci, Antti Salovaara, and Marko Turpeinen, this work would never have been finished. Similarly, the pre-examiners, Sus Lundgren and Joel Fischer, provided comments that enabled clarification for various parts of the work and made it easier to grasp the conceptual work and the contributions of this thesis. Finally, I am both delighted and honored to have Kenton O'Hara as my opponent, and I hope to engage in interesting discussions with him on the work.

It is well known that it takes a village to raise a PhD. I have been surrounded by a community of friends with whom I have worked on various projects, learning how to "do science." The Network Society Research Program at Helsinki Institute for Information Technology HIIT was a valuable meeting place for social scientists interested in technology. I am happy to say I have worked with some of the brilliant minds of Helsinki there, including Airi Lampinen, Andrea Vianello, Antti Jylhä, Antti Oulasvirta, Antti Poikela, Antti Ukkonen, Arto Kekkonen, Asko Lehmuskallio, Eeva Raita, Eve Hoggan, Herkko Hietanen, Ilkka Kosunen, Imtiaj Ahmed, Jani Turunen, Jesper Hjorth, Jesse Haapoja, Joanna Bergström-Lehtovirta, Jouni A. Ojala, Jouni Vepsäläinen, Juho Hamari, Juho Pääkkönen, Jukka Reitmaa, Kai Huotari, Kai Kuikkaniemi, Kumaripaba Athukorala, Lassi Liikkanen, Mari Marttila, Mari Tuokko, Martti Mäntylä, Mats Sjöberg, Max Vilkki, Mika Honkanen, Mikael Johnson, Olli Pitkänen, Oswald Barral, Petri Lievonen, Suvi Uski, Tanel Mällo, Tuomas Husu, Tuukka Lehtiniemi, Veikko Eranti, Vesa Kantola, Vili Lehdonvirta, Ville Harjunen, Vilma Lehtinen, Yi-Ta Hsieh, and, Yki Kortesniemi. The newly founded scientific association Rajapinta has kept the relationship with the social sciences strong and also introduced me to other fabulous people, among them Arho Toikka, Laura Kohonen-Aho, Marjoriikka Ylisiurua, Mika Pantzar, Mikko Vili, Minna Ruckenstein, Pertti Ahonen, Salla-Maaria Laaksonen, Thomas Olsson, Tuukka Ylä-Anttila, and, Veikko Isotalo. Furthermore, over the years I have had the pleasure to work with colleagues and friends such as Arto Hellas, Brandie Nonnecke, Bryan Semaan, Emilia Hjelm, Eva Durall, Janne Saarikko, Jay Patel, Jenni Hokka, Juuso Karikoski, Kaarina Nikunen, Ken Goldberg, Kimmo Vehkalahti, Mervi Pantti, Patrik Floreen, Petri Savolainen, Reijo Sund, Riitta Smeds, Sanjay Krishnan, Tanja Aitamurto, Tarmo Toikka, and, Teemu Leinonen. Finally, my work at Nokia Corporation – at Nokia Research Centre, Nokia's Office of the Chief Technology Officer, and the Toijala Student Innovation Laboratory – helped me to develop various skills that were helpful for academic research as well: I am grateful to Erkki Ormala, Juha Arrasvuori, Juha Kaario, Karl Ots, Marko Mahkonen, Paul V. Brown, Riku Suomela. Timo Ali-Vehmas, Timo Sorsa, and, Vik Nuckchady. All of them<sup>1</sup> have helped me to learn more about being a researcher and what research means.

Regrettably, a great group of people is not sufficient for raising a PhD. Financially my work has been made possible by generous funding from the Kone Foundation (project: Digital Humanities for Public Policy Making), Tekes (the Finnish Funding Agency for Innovation) (projects: Learning Design – Designing for Learning, Smart Spaces: Critical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Including also those who I have forgotten to mention here.

Software Enablers for Real-World Deployments, and, Revolution of Knowledge Work), the Academy of Finland (work on racism and public communications in the hybrid media environment), the Nokia Foundation, and, the Sanoma Foundation (Digivaalit 2015). These projects have not only supported the development of various ideas presented in the thesis but also allowed me to learn many hands-on skills of academic life beyond writing funding applications. I also wish to thank the Doctoral Program for Computer Science at the University of Helsinki for picking up the bill for my various conference trips. In addition, the staff of the various support services, ranging from human resources and information technology to financial and travel support services of both Aalto University and the University of Helsinki, deserve an apology for all the times I have bugged them, usually with urgent needs.

Lastly, I must thank the University of Helsinki's Department for Computer Science for a forward-looking position on multidisciplinary research. I know that this has not been the easiest journey for the department either, but the continuous support and willingness to accommodate differences have enabled me – with academic roots in social sciences and industry experience in software and service development – to create a contribution of this nature.

> Otaniemi, December 2017 Matti Nelimarkka

# Contents

| 1 | Introduction  | 1                     |
|---|---|-----------------------|
|   | 1.1 Hybrid Interaction  | 3                     |
|   | 1.2 Summary of Findings   | 6                     |
|   | 1.3 The Author's Contribution   | 8                     |
|   | 1.4 Structure of the Thesis   | 8                     |
| 2 | Previous work on performative hybrid interaction  | 11                    |
| - | 2.1 Prior Systems: An Overview  | 11                    |
|   | 2.2. Current Hybrid Interaction Tools' Aims and Users   | 12                    |
|   | 2.2 Current Hybrid Interaction 10018 Anns and Osers   | 12                    |
|   | 2.4 Open Questions  | 12                    |
|   |   | 1 5                   |
| 3 | Research strategy   | 15                    |
|   | 3.1 Studying <i>In-Situ</i> Activities  | 15                    |
|   | 3.2 Conducting Experiments with Social Applications   | 16                    |
|   | 3.3 The Mixed-Methods Approach  | 17                    |
|   | 3.4 The Presemo System  | 18                    |
|   | 3.5 The Instances Studied   | 20                    |
|   | 3.6 Research Ethics   | 22                    |
|   | 3.7 Summary of the Publications   | 23                    |
|   | 3.8 Impact of the Research Context: A Replication   | 24                    |
| 4 | Social rules in the hybrid space  | <b>27</b>             |
|   | 4.1 Related Work  | 27                    |
|   | 4.2 Theoretical Background  | 28                    |
|   | 4.3 Findings  | 29                    |
|   | 4.4 Discussion  | 31                    |
| 5 | Directing hybrid interaction  | 33                    |
|   | 5.1 Related Work  | 33                    |
|   | 5.2 Theoretical Background  | 34                    |
|   | 5.3 Findings  | 35                    |
|   | 5.4 Discussion  | 37                    |
| 6 | Evaluating the hybrid interaction   | 41                    |
| 3 | 6.1 Related Work  | 41                    |
|   | 6.2 Theoretical Background  | 42                    |
|   | 6.2 Findings  | 43                    |
|   | 6.4 Discussion  | 44                    |
|   |   |                       |
| 7 | Conclusions   | 47                    |
| 7 | Conclusions<br>7.1 Implications for Performative Hybrid Interactions                                  | 47<br>48              |
| 7 | Conclusions   7.1 Implications for Performative Hybrid Interactions   7.2 Avenues for Future Research | <b>47</b><br>48<br>49 |

| 7.3     | Performative Hybrid Interaction and Theories of Social Interaction        | 50  |
|---------|---|-----|
| 7.4     | Limitations   | 52  |
| 7.5     | Concluding Remarks  | 53  |
| Refere  | nces  | 55  |
| Origina | al publications   | 65  |
| Rese    | earch Paper I: A Field Trial of an Anonymous Backchannel Among Primary    |     |
|         | School Pupils   | 65  |
| Rese    | earch Paper II: Threading and conversation in co-located chats            | 73  |
| Rese    | earch Paper III: Live Participation: Augmenting Events with Audience–Per- |     |
|         | former Interaction Systems  | 83  |
| Rese    | earch Paper IV: Theory-driven collocated CMC: A study on collocated medi- |     |
|         | ated interaction as a public sphere                                       | 97  |
| Rese    | earch Paper V: Norms in collocated computer mediated communication: dou-  |     |
|         | ble standard, problems of assymetric presence and spillover of norm vio-  |     |
|         | lations   | 113 |

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

The focus of this thesis, performative hybrid interaction, is an emerging application domain for social computing technologies. In performative hybrid interaction, computer-mediated communication is used when people are collocated at a planned event. Performers and spectators use it in these planned events to enhance their interaction and engagement. Here, I will explore how the use context of planned events influences emerging practices: social rules, roles and practices of the performers, and normative standing. Before tackling this theme. I will briefly position my work in the history of human-computer interaction studies, computer-supported cooperative work, and social computing. I will show that the questions I ask have been examined with several other social computing systems (e.g., Grudin, 1994b) and that the context of collocated computing dates back to the early days of human-computer interaction research (Johansen et al., 1991; Ellis et al., 1991). This contextualizes my work in the larger narrative of research into computer-supported cooperative work: the combined study of social settings and new technologies. Because scientific work is not ahistorical, I believe that this brief review of the identity of the field is warranted. After the historical review, I will describe what I mean by performative hybrid interaction and summarize the findings presented in this thesis.

The early work in human-computer interaction pertained to individual-level use. Studies in the workplace addressed how computers support interaction between individuals. This led to research in an area known as "computer-supported cooperative work." As access to computers increased, they started becoming used outside the work context. Today, the term "social computing" is used together with "computer-supported cooperative work." Before continuing, I wish to acknowledge that extensive work has already been conducted on the identification of computer-supported collaborative work (e.g., Schmidt and Bannon, 2013; Grudin, 1994a; Ellis et al., 1991). These discussions emerged as the field has grown to appreciate various forms of contributions. Holsapple and Luo (2003) separated contributions to study of the design and use of technology from those works developing policies and strategies; they also observed that contributions were focused on either groupor organization-level problems. These ideas have been documented by academics in the field as well. Grudin (1994a) too categorized work in the field on the basis of organizational or small-group focus, and Schmidt and Bannon (2013) discussed the methodological differences between the practice-oriented ethnographic study of workplaces and problemdirected study of computer-supported coordination. Given the interdisciplinary nature of the field, I faced the question of how I should approach my research topic. I could focus on key conceptual findings and aim to extend to them (e.g., Schmidt and Bannon, 2013), but my quest is to understand particular use cases and the emerging application space, which I call "performative hybrid interaction" in this thesis (see Section 1.1, below). The focus of my contribution is, therefore, on the design and use of technology and more specifically on the problem-directed study agenda.

|                 | same time | different time |
|-----------------|-----------|----------------|
| same place      | Ι         | II             |
| different place | III       | IV             |

Table 1.1: Space–Time Matrix.

Work focused on any application space is naturally hindered by the constant flux of technologies within the field that, for example, Schmidt and Bannon (2013) posited to be a challenge for computer-supported cooperative work research. To address this, I ground my work against established understandings of technologies for cooperative work. Ellis et al. (1991) described several distinct classifications of systems: application-level taxonomies, degree of shared environment, and the space-time matrix. The space-time matrix (Johansen et al., 1991; Ellis et al., 1991) separates among pieces of collaborative software on the basis of the physical setup (place) and temporal setup (time) (see Table 1.1). Even today, existing tools can be, and often are, grouped in accordance with this model (see Fischer et al., 2016, for a timely example). In an illustration of this framework, email and wikis are designed to be used in a different time and different space (quadrant IV in Table 1.1), whereas chat and other synchronous distributed tools are used at the same time in different spaces (quadrant III). The space-time matrix has been able to guide system development for over 25 years, indicating that it is a rather stable way to categorize technologies. Therefore, it is a suitable grounding from which to proceed with further work.

Lately, active research in social computing has been focused on distributed tools (quadrants III and IV). The primary emphasis has been on the Internet, which has significantly transformed society. For example, in *The Rise of the Network Society*, Castells (1998) claimed that the Internet creates "timeless time" and a "space of flows." The former refers to how the global information networks challenge the concept of time in interaction. For example, the interaction from Helsinki to Berkeley is as fast as the interaction from Helsinki to Espoo. The idea of space of flows highlights how collaboration that takes place in multiple locations yet in a synchronous manner (quadrant III) becomes easy and the concept of place is, therefore, no longer needed. Studies of chat, email, blogs, social-networking sites, Wikipedia, and virtual worlds, among others, have been widely published in this domain.

There has also been a steady output, even if in lower quantity, of articles that focus on tools for collocated interaction. In quadrant I, research has focused on tools such as interactive surfaces for collaboration (among others, Rogers and Rodden, 2003) and tools for awareness support for collocated work (among others, Bergstrom and Karahalios, 2007). A significant subdomain has involved the focus on computer-mediated communication in cases of collocation (further examined in Chapter 2) – for example, using backchannels and audience response systems.

I have studied technologies in collocated synchronous communication (quadrant I), since it is the only quadrant in this matrix in which communication channels naturally coexist. Collocation entails people being able to interact in a face-to-face manner and at the same time maintain a digital interaction channel. Although the volume of research activity in this field is small, it represents a significant part of today's media environment. For example, in the United Kingdom, 26% of all Internet users have communicated with another person via a mediated tool even when they were collocated while at home; for teens, this number increases to 49%. Further, 32% of teens have communicated with someone through mediated communication while collocated on a school site (Office of Communications, 2016). Given its frequency, we must ask how such communication takes place. Section 1.1 offers a suggestion for addressing this challenge through the concept of hybrid interaction.

#### 1.1 Hybrid Interaction

The space-time matrix has been applied in research into social applications. However, instead of "same time, same space," several researchers have used the concept of *hybrid* to elaborate on the forms of interaction emerging in quadrant I (e.g., de Souza e Silva, 2006; Harrison and Dourish, 1996; Crabtree and Rodden, 2008). While my research spans quadrant I, I will align myself further with the "hybrid" concept, for I find it a more suitable lens with which to examine the social interaction. To that end, I will, in this section, elaborate on the meanings of "hybrid" in the literature.

*Hybrid space* reflects the changes in a physical space as digital technologies are used to support it. For example, in media scholarship, de Souza e Silva (2006) defined hybrid space in the following way:

[Hybrid space forms when] virtual communities (chats, multi-user domains, and massively multi-player online role-playing games), previously enacted in what was conceptualized as cyberspace, migrate to physical spaces because of the use of mobile technologies as interfaces.

They explain that the hybrid space is defined not through the technologies used to bring the "virtual" interaction into the physical space but rather on the basis of the social connections created through the interaction. The same term was used earlier by Harrison and Dourish (1996), who defined the hybrid space in a manner similar to de Souza e Silva (2006)'s, stating that it

comprises both physical and virtual space, and in action is framed simultaneously by the physical space, the virtual space and the relationship between the two.

However, in their examples, they claimed this to extend beyond collocated interaction and aimed to reflect how, for example, video conferencing tools link physical and virtual spaces together and highlight the role of space and place in those systems (e.g., Dourish, 2006). In a similar fashion, Crabtree and Rodden (2008) presented the idea of *hybrid ecology* that

combine[s] and exploit[s] the affordances of mixed reality and ubiquitous computing environments to extend the purchase of computing across multiple environments, physical and digital.

All of these authors show a distinctive emphasis in their formulations. Harrison and Dourish (1996) extended the term towards wider collaboration and did not cover the critical collocation aspect. Crabtree and Rodden (2008), on the other hand, have focused largely on the technical configuration and less on social settings seen as vital in computer-supported cooperation literature. Both of these challenges can be dealt with by referring to de Souza e Silva (2006) for the baseline notation for the hybrid space.

The second domain of human-computer interaction that has used the term "hybrid" has been centered on *hybrid artifacts* (Bannon et al., 2005): tools that support manipulating the interfaces through physical means. However, the emphasis with this tangible interaction has been on making the physical artifacts input devices or even manipulatable objects connecting the physical and digital (Ishii, 2008). Even though these artifacts connect the two, they do not address the role of several of the communication channels. Rather, the hybrid artifacts address the opportunities to use the physical as an input "device" for digital content. Therefore, this area of research (and its formulations in similar areas, such as embodied interaction, wherein the body is used as the input device) is beyond the scope of the thesis.



Figure 1.1: An example of performative hybrid interaction at an academic conference.

The third area in which the term is applied within human-computer interaction is that of *hybrid media consumption*, wherein an additional medium is followed to support television-broadcast consumption (Maruyama et al., 2014). The phenomenon is also known as "live tweeting" (e.g., Kim et al., 2015b; Hawthorne et al., 2013; Bentivegna and Marchetti, 2015; McPherson et al., 2012) or "second screening" (e.g., Feltwell et al., 2017; Trilling, 2014; Larsson and Christensen, 2016). Maruyama et al. (2014) has argued that this scenario creates

a hybrid media environment in which anyone with an Internet connection can watch the conversation unfold or join the discussion.

This opportunity makes the television-watching experience more social (Hawthorne et al., 2013) and affects how people perceive the broadcast (Maruyama et al., 2014). The main difference from the notion of hybrid space discussed above is that study of physical space is not required for understanding this activity and it has not been a mainstream topic of research. Hybrid media consumption demonstrates the benefits of the "space of flows" idea, since the activity can occur in any place.

The focus in this thesis is on something else that can be considered a form of consumption of hybrid media. Planned events are examples of collocated situations. With these, spectators can consume both physical and digital activities. Therefore, they are engaged in hybrid media consumption. Figure 1.1 shows an example in which both digital and physical (verbal) interaction take place at the same time. As panelists manage what is shown in the digital space, they are performing in the digital sphere and inviting listeners to participate. Therefore, we must extend the ideas of hybrid space and hybrid media consumption to account for such roles and activities. *Performative hybrid interaction is a subset of hybrid interactions (in which interactions occur in a collocated situation) wherein a planned performance is ongoing.* I will now briefly engage with the concepts of performance, planned event, hybrid, sphere, and interaction, to justify the use of the concept of performative hybrid interaction.

The situation is *performative*;<sup>1</sup> the participants are not equal. They have social roles that put some of them in charge of the performance and make others spectators. For example, in the case of an educational event, teachers plan activities beforehand and are in charge of those activities even if (and when) students are asked to take part in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There are several meanings for this word. As Marshall et al. (2017b) and Marshall et al. (2017a) have suggested, it has many articulations in human–computer interaction literature and these may not do full justice to findings from the social sciences and performance scholarship.

performing. No matter how they take part in performing, students are not engaged in the planning of the pedagogy; while they may contribute to the learning activities or the exercises, they do not design them. Similarly, at a panel or seminar presentation, the presenters and panelists are in charge of the performance even if they invite questions from the audience. Therefore, the performance<sup>2</sup> emerges clearly when, to put a working definition to the term, we understand all social interaction as a performance (e.g., Goffman, 1978). In this case, even a casual discussion is viewed as a performance. However, when the interaction takes place at a *planned event* (Getz and Page, 2016), the performers have a role; they are "acting" even when they do not have a character whose lines and stage directions they are acting out (Kirby, 1987). The social situation is constructed, and the performing takes place in this constructed context. Therefore, the participants are not equal, through their roles in this constructed context.

However, recent media scholarship provides another view on hybridity. The transformation of the media space due to the increased role of social media in journalistic processes has led to creation of a hybrid media system. Chadwick et al. (2016) have argued that the current media environment mashes up the logic of newer and older media; that is to say that traditional media organizations (such as newspapers and television news entities) adapt their way of operating in reaction to social media organizations, and the social media organizations adapt their manner of operation to match those of traditional media organizations. I argue that an understanding of the adaptation of media logic is critical if we are to understand collocated interaction. I admit that the relationship is less clear than that with hybrid space and hybrid media consumption. However, as various media environments (or spaces, to remain with the terminology of hybrid space and hybrid media consumption) mesh together, what type of interaction emerges? The work outlined by Chadwick et al. (2016) focuses on the rules and practices that emerge when adoptions from traditional and new media spaces take place. Let us present that in terms of the hybrid interaction: the question raised in this scholarship would be "how do digital activities influence the rules and practices of physical activities, and, vice versa, how do physical activities influence the rules and practices of digital activities?" These questions are not addressed in the traditional description of hybrid space and considered only to a small extent in hybrid media consumption literature, because the focus there is on the existence of both digital and physical communication channels.

With the term "hybrid," I aim to indicate that the focus is in both digital and physical spaces. The conception builds mostly on those of hybrid space and hybrid media consumption, the idea that even collocated users have many spaces and communication channels employed. Various examples of this can be found in prior work. When a bar is augmented with public screens, visitors can not only engage in face-to-face discussion of the content but also share photos and thereby express themselves further (e.g., Lucero et al., 2012a). Similarly, backchannel tools have been used at conferences to allow people to share thoughts and ask questions by using digital tools even when they are collocated (e.g., McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005; Harry et al., 2009). The perspective gained from hybrid media systems is related not to the existence of a second space for communication but, rather, to the *dual-sphere* communication opportunity. I use the term "sphere" to indicate the range of communication affordances that both the digital sphere and the physical sphere have. Therefore, I use the word "hybrid" to suggest that the focus is on digital sphere, physical sphere, and any interaction between the two.

Finally, with the concept of hybrid *interaction* I aim to reflect the fact that the hybrid space is more than a social "space." People use the hybrid space to communicate with others and express themselves when collocated. They can respond to questions issued by

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Since the topic of performance is further addressed in sections 5.1 and 5.2, I will not extend the discussion of a performance further here or relate it to the literature in greater detail.

the performer, as in polls or open-ended items, or react to a remark made by the performer. However, they also can use the hybrid space to respond to comments made by others. The interaction emerges, therefore, from participants' social actions. They are reacting to each other and commenting – the activity is beyond media consumption and is focused on media creation in both communication spaces in collocated settings.

#### **1.2** Summary of Findings

I argue in this thesis that *performers can use performative hybrid interaction to shape the social interaction*. This argument is made by way of three research questions (1-3). Furthermore, Research Question 0 addresses cultural settings of my research site. To help the reader follow the discussion, I also provide a summary of my findings for each of the research questions below.

- **Research Question 1** The collocated computer-mediated communication system creates an additional "sphere" (i.e., layer or channel) for communication. However, we do not know how social interaction is regulated in the dual-sphere communication environment. Are social rules different between the digital and physical sphere at a planned event?
- **Finding 1** The physical and digital spheres can differ in their social rules and, therefore, each can create an opportunity for particular behavior. Furthermore, the social rules in the spheres are not separated but rather integrated, influencing each other. Hence, the social rules of the situation emerge as an aggregation of the rules and practices in both of the spheres and the spillovers mixing the spheres. Finally, the social rules in these spheres are not different from established interaction rules. They indicate that the hybrid interaction must account for rules of different spheres. This should be borne in mind when one explores the interaction.
- **Research Question 2** I have studied cases wherein hybrid interaction is used to support performance cases of performative hybrid interaction. As is argued above, the performers have roles in these performances that they act out. From Research Question 1, the focus proceeds to the social rules in performative hybrid interaction. To understand performances in hybrid interaction, I ask "what roles do performers have?" and "what actions are used to establish and maintain these roles?"
- Finding 2 There are spectators and performers in performative hybrid interaction. There are four distinct roles for performers, based on their location ("onstage","offstage") and whether they can influence the flow of the performance. Furthermore, performers can use both physical ("onstage") and digital ("offstage") actions to interact with spectators. These activities are not necessarily undertaken only to direct the participation; they may also add value for the digital sphere at planned events, because they communicate what type of participation the performer expects. Finally, the guidance can extend beyond the content and include directing the social rules in the hybrid interaction.
- **Research Question 3** Research Question 1 is focused on the social rules, and Research Question 2 highlights performers' work in this. In response to Research Question 2, I show that performers can determine and even enforce what takes place in the performance. This leads to the question of a normative setup for these systems and, thereby, this question: does performative hybrid interaction support some normative positions more strongly than face-to-face interaction does?

- **Finding 3** The results show that the normative qualities of participation experienced differ between face-to-face and hybrid interaction. Accordingly, I suggest that the normative values of participation support the evaluation work. Furthermore, a normative framework can be used for comprehending the social rules and their management. Finally, this opens significant questions with regard to how these values are chosen, particularly since the social rules can change in response to hybrid interaction. This reveals new opportunities to drive research into hybrid interaction on the basis of values and the role that technologies have in connection with values.
- **Research Question 0** Every social application reflects surrounding society i.e., the socio-cultural context. Much of the prior research on performative hybrid interaction has been conducted in the United States. To aid in understanding what the socio-cultural differences are, I ask "how does this study compare with studies from the United States?"
- **Finding 0** Conducting a rigorous replication is difficult, given that previous work has not shared enough detail to elaborate the findings. A reading of the existing findings indicates that the only concept used in several works was the amount of unrelated content posted by the spectators. Even here, various terms, such as "spam," have been used, though all of those terms indicate that the content was not expected by the performers. I found that the amount of unrelated content in my initial case study was similar to that in previous work and hence allows further examination of this topic in this socio-cultural context.

The secondary aim in my research has been to demonstrate the utilization of *social* theories for the design and evaluation of hybrid space applications. Although a call for theories of social interaction may sound rather trivial, a survey has shown that 70% of communication technology papers published in social science journals did not present a clear theoretical background for the study (Borah, 2015). Borah (2015) has suggested that this is due partly to the exploratory nature of the research but still concluded that this impairs ability to further develop scholarship. Since social science publications often require a strong theory contribution also, the 70% figure is surprisingly large. Also in the realm of computer-supported collaborative work, calls for stronger theory have been made (e.g., Schmidt and Bannon, 2013; Wagenknecht et al., 2017). All the answers I offer to research questions 1–3 are backed by strong conceptualization from the social sciences, and I do my part to try to answer the calls made in human–computer interaction research.<sup>3</sup>

Using social theories, I will show the following:

• The social theories of interaction provide insights related to ways to improve the tools and practices applied for performative hybrid interaction.

• The social theories offer insights for further research, for both computer-supported collaboration and social sciences.

Furthermore, the theories used – addressing norms, social rules, performances, and values in design – provide insights on the main argument about performers' role in the performative hybrid interaction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> However, this does not mean that the epistemological position is different from "bottom-up" research. Even a theory-driven framework does not mean that a deductive approach must be used. Theories can be used in an inductive manner too, wherein a theory-based hypothesis is not set first and the data are analyzed for initial understanding of the phenomena, before theories are used to conceptualize the findings.

#### **1.3** The Author's Contribution

The work is based on four peer-reviewed and published articles (papers I, II, III, and IV) and one article in preparation for publication (Paper V). Since all articles have been written in collaboration, I will review the contributions of each author here.

- **Paper I** The research idea emerged from collaboration among all authors. Matti Nelimarkka was responsible for data collection, analysis, and the writing of the first version of the manuscript. Kai Kuikkaniemi, Giulio Jacucci, and Matti Nelimarkka collaboratively revised the manuscript for publication.
- **Paper II** The final formulation of the research idea emerged in collaboration with all authors, originating from an initial idea by Vilma Lehtinen. Kai Kuikkaniemi was responsible for data collection. Vilma Lehtinen conducted the initial data analysis (content classification) and the theory framing. Matti Nelimarkka conducted the further data analysis (statistical analysis) and revised the theory in keeping with the output from the statistical analysis. Antti Ukkonen provided support during the data analysis phase and contributed to the theory's revision. Giulio Jacucci reviewed and commented on the manuscript and engaged in discussions on the contribution of the article. All authors wrote the article, in collaboration.
- **Paper III** The research idea was developed in collaboration by all authors. Kai Kuikkaniemi was responsible for the data collection and discussed the approaches to data analysis and the findings. Matti Nelimarkka helped with the data collection, especially for the in-depth case study. Matti Nelimarkka conducted the data analysis and wrote the first manuscript on the basis of the findings. Giulio Jacucci and Antti Salovaara reviewed and commented upon the manuscript and engaged in discussions about the contribution of the article.
- **Paper IV** Matti Nelimarkka developed the research idea in collaboration with Antti Salovaara. Matti Nelimarkka conducted the data collection and analysis and wrote the first version of the manuscript. Antti Salovaara, Bryan Semaan, and Giulio Jacucci reviewed and commented on the manuscript and engaged in discussions on the contribution of the article.
- Paper V Matti Nelimarkka conducted the data collection and the coding of the data. Matti Nelimarkka and Antti Salovaara analyzed the data with respect to publication. Matti Nelimarkka wrote the early drafts, which were revised with Antti Salovaara and Giulio Jacucci.

#### 1.4 Structure of the Thesis

I have already presented the basic definitions employed for this thesis: I discussed the identity of the field and showed how my work continues the research approach therein. I moved beyond "same time, same place" by discussing hybridity and presenting two concepts, hybrid interaction and performative hybrid interaction. Through these terms, social settings – which are at the core of computer-supported cooperative work research – were brought to the fore.

Now that I have summarized the contributions of the thesis (the findings) and presented the individual papers, I can examine the subject matter in greater detail. In Chapter 2, I will review the existing tools that were used to create performative hybrid applications and the corresponding findings in the academic community. The purpose is to identify

| Section 1.1 | hybrid space                     |   | (de Souza e Silva, 2006)              |
|-------------|----------------------------------|---|---------------------------------------|
| Dection 1.1 | hybrid media consumption         |   | (Maruwama et al. 2014)                |
|             | hybrid interaction               |   | (Section 1.1)                         |
|             | hybrid interaction               | * | (Section 1.1)                         |
|             | hybrid media system              |   | (Chadwick et al., 2016)               |
|             | performative hybrid interaction  | * | (Section 1.1)                         |
| Chapter 2   | backchannel                      |   | (e.g., Du et al., 2009; Harry et al., |
|             |                                  |   | 2009)                                 |
|             | audience response system         |   | (e.g., Kay and Road, 2011; Caldwell,  |
|             |                                  |   | 2007)                                 |
|             | group support system             |   | (e.g., Nunamaker et al., 1987, 1996)  |
|             | peer interaction                 |   | (e.g., Yardi, 2006)                   |
|             | teacher-student interaction      |   | (e.g., Kay and Road, 2011)            |
|             | public display of opinions       |   | (e.g., Du et al., 2009; Harry et al., |
|             |                                  |   | 2009)                                 |
| Chapter 4   | social rules                     |   | (Burns and Flam, 1987)                |
|             | social norms                     |   | (Lapinski, 2005)                      |
|             | norm violation spillover         | * | (Paper V)                             |
| Chapter 5   | performer, as-performance        |   | (Schechner, 2013; Kirby, 1987)        |
|             | integration work                 | * | (Paper III)                           |
|             | extended performance             | * | (Paper III)                           |
|             | norm management                  | * | (Paper V)                             |
| Chapter 6   | various models of democracy      |   | (Dahlberg, 2011; Held, 2006)          |
|             | values and technology            |   | (Nissenbaum, 2005)                    |
|             | normative-theory-driven research | * | (Paper IV)                            |

Table 1.2: The core concepts used in this thesis, where concepts contributed by this synopsis or the papers are marked with a  $\star$  and concepts that originate from others' work are cited accordingly.

questions that remain unanswered by this literature (in Section 2.4) and provide a short overview of the existing work.

Then, I will articulate the research strategy I used. Although each paper presents the exact methods that were applied, at this juncture I can address the importance of conducting the research in situ and the challenges of such an environment. Furthermore, I will briefly elaborate upon the reasons my work uses mixed methods and the approaches that were employed for most of the papers. With these topics, not addressed in any of the papers, I provide an introduction to the methodological choices I and my co-authors made. Following this introduction, the research apparatus (Presemo) and the cases are discussed. I conclude the chapter by comparing the prior research to work in a different social setting (Finding 0).

Chapters 4, 5, and 6 each address one of the research questions, Research Question 1 in Chapter 4 and so on. They have been structured to address the related work on hybrid interaction in terms of the relevant research question. After the discussion, I elaborate on the social science concepts necessary for continuation of the narrative. With the ground-work laid in these two sections of each chapter, I reflect upon the empirical findings in the papers that support the answer I present for the research question and lead to the corresponding "Finding." Finally, each of these chapters ends with a discussion that examines the findings for human–computer interaction and social computing.

As outlined in Table 1.2, each of chapters 4, 5, and 6 makes its own distinct contribution to the thesis. This includes both using existing terms and relating them to the research context (cited in the table regarding the key literature that I discuss) and also applying the novel terminology that I and my colleagues have introduced in our work to address the phenomena.

The conclusion (Chapter 7) summarizes the implications of the answers to the three main research questions for practices related to performative hybrid interaction. It also addresses topics that further systems could address and potential for research into performative hybrid interaction. I reflect on the potential to engage with the social science literature further and on contributions it could make. Also, I address the limitations of my work and then offer a final summary of the main contributions.

## Chapter 2

# Previous work on performative hybrid interaction

In this chapter, I will review the existing work on performative hybrid interaction. I provide an overview of research based applications that are performative and used in the "same time, same place" quadrant of the space–time matrix. Furthermore, I briefly review findings discussed with regard to these applications. The chapter provides an overview and motivation for the research questions by presenting possible gaps in the research. Chapters 4, 5, and 6 review the related work again, but they present it in a more detailed manner from the perspective of the respective chapter.

#### 2.1 Prior Systems: An Overview

An early work from 1998 titled "Adding another communication channel to reality" (Rekimoto et al., 1998) explicitly calls out the technological opportunities to create hybrid spaces within a single space. This motivation continued with use of existing technologies, such as Internet Relay Chat (IRC), at conferences and in classrooms (McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005; Yardi, 2006) and with development of new technologies for such purposes (Davis, 2007; Du et al., 2012b, 2009, 2012a). The systems also moved beyond a simple "communication space" as their developers sought to support tasks such as choosing and managing questions in collocation situations (Harry et al., 2009; Bergstrom et al., 2011) and further scaffolding participation (Baumgart and Pohl, 2011; Harry et al., 2012).

Although the aforementioned research addressed opportunities to use computer-mediated systems to share open-entry text and multimedia content, the focus in learning science has been on simple audience response tools. Unlike systems discussed above, the goal with audience response systems is to allow the audience to vote on a given set of options and show those responses to participants. Because audience response systems have been used extensively in education, reviews of them exist (e.g., Kay and LeSage, 2009; Caldwell, 2007). These reviews highlight several ways to configure the system in line with the needs of the performers (Caldwell, 2007).

Finally, performative hybrid interaction is one domain in the larger domain of hybrid interaction. For example, group support systems have been focused to improve collaboration via using both computer-mediated and physical interaction. Therefore, this is hybrid use (e.g., Nunamaker et al., 1996). Similarly, supporting social interaction in collocated entertainment-focused activities, such as events at bars (e.g., Lucero et al., 2012b) and concerts (e.g., Jacucci et al., 2007), demonstrates use of hybrid interaction. Both of these efforts include the core component of hybrid interaction: merging physical and digital activities.

The difference between performative hybrid interactions systems (studied in this work) and the wider domain of hybrid interaction applications is related to the distribution of power and roles. I study cases in which the participants are not equal but have roles and – therefore – expectations related to behavior (I will extend this line of thought further in Chapter 5). The roles make performative hybrid interaction different from a group support system and social interaction support applications, in which participants are more equal.

#### 2.2 Current Hybrid Interaction Tools' Aims and Users

The majority of these systems have been used for educational purposes, to support interaction within classrooms. These include systems that are intended to support solely peer interaction (Yardi, 2006) and teacher-student interaction (Bergstrom et al., 2011; Kay and LeSage, 2009), as well as applications supporting shared display of opinions and viewpoints within the classroom (Du et al., 2012b, 2009, 2012a; Harry et al., 2012). Another use case has been supporting interaction at conferences or other types of organized gatherings. Again, the focus is on the peer interaction (McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005), or allowing the public display of opinions (Harry et al., 2009; Rekimoto et al., 1998).

Based on qualitative observations, systems with open-text input (e.g., chat-type interfaces) are used to make comments about the ongoing activities (Du et al., 2012b; McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005), ask questions and request clarifications about the content (Du et al., 2012b; McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005), provide information additional to that given by the presenter (Du et al., 2012b; McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005), suggest improvements on the organization of the event (Du et al., 2012b) or coordinate these activities (McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005), engage in discussion of topical issues (Du et al., 2012b), or pursue social purposes (Du et al., 2012b).

Although the aims behind using systems with open-text input have been less explicitly stated (these are addressed in our work in Paper III), audience response systems are used in education environments to increase interaction within the classroom, guide students' thinking and review key content, assess students, gain more information about students, and make classes more engaging to attend (according to a review by Caldwell, 2007).

Finally, previous research has discussed the use of roles and it is evident already from the review discussed above. It can be stated explicitly: there are two user roles within these systems, those who use them to participate, comment, and react to the performance and those performing. The former are *spectators*, those not having a responsibility for the performance, such as the students in the classroom or the audience of a panel discussion. The latter are *performers*, who are responsible for creating and maintaining the performance, such as the teachers or the panelists. However, the distinction is not naturally this clear. Researchers have spoken also about technical personnel who are there to ensure that the mediated communication behaves correctly (e.g., Harry et al., 2009). Taking these developments into account, we have shown that performers can also be offstage and focus solely on managing the mediated communication system. I will further elaborate upon the notation related to roles and performances in Chapter 5.

#### 2.3 The Impact of Hybrid Interaction in Events

Performative hybrid interaction has been shown to transform inactive spectators into active contributors during events (Du et al., 2009; Kay and LeSage, 2009), increase participation in events because it affords (among other elements) anonymity (Harry et al., 2012), support the event flow by providing a non-interruptive avenue for contributions (Harry et al., 2009; McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005), and support peer interaction and learning (Yardi, 2006). Furthermore, the use of performative hybrid interaction tools – audience response systems

in particular – has been shown to increase attendance, attention, and engagement (Kay and LeSage, 2009; Caldwell, 2007). These benefits lead to higher-quality learning (Kay and LeSage, 2009).

Although the presentation above seems rather positive, it is clear that performative hybrid interaction tools can also create disruptions to the performance. There can be various unexpected and even antisocial behaviors, including spamming and even bullying (Harry et al., 2009; Bergstrom et al., 2011; Du et al., 2009), as are further examined in Section 3.8. Furthermore, users might find it difficult to share their attention between digital communication and verbal communication (McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005). Surprisingly, this literature has not directed any attention to performers' experiences in this regard.

#### 2.4 Open Questions

As shown above, previous systems have had static functionality: they only allow members of the audience to ask questions (Harry et al., 2009; Bergstrom et al., 2011), answer predefined questions (Kay and LeSage, 2009; Caldwell, 2007), or engage in peer interaction (Yardi, 2006; McCarthy and {b}oyd, 2005). However, our research group (particularly, in the work by Kai Kuikkaniemi and me) has examined whether it is possible to extend them. Developers of performative hybrid interaction seek opportunities to develop these systems from one static form of participation into a dynamic multipurpose system. My colleagues and I challenge this position and provide an alternative view of hybrid interaction.

My second observations is related to case-study-driven research and the scattered nature of the research it entails. Even the research on audience response systems – which has higher volume and more reviews – lacks systematic observations (Caldwell, 2007). This is not surprising, since even more social-science-oriented research on new communication technologies lacks a proper theoretical framing (Borah, 2015). Through research questions 1–3, this thesis is an attempt to develop a more theoretically grounded perspective on performative hybrid interaction. Proceeding from these two observations and the review presented above, I argue that there are the following three open questions that can help us shed light on the social dimensions and practices emerging in hybrid interaction.

The first open question has to do with *behavior in hybrid interaction*. What governs the interaction? The existing research can, to some degree, tell us how participants interact via the computer-mediated communication channel. I showed this above by reviewing classifications of messages in previous work. However, these classifications do not help us to further understand why particular patterns emerge in the interaction. This type of understanding would aid significantly with efforts such as reducing antisocial behavior in hybrid interaction situations. Through Research Question 1, I contribute to extending the state of the art by providing insight into the social rules in hybrid interaction.

The second open question is related to the lack of understanding of *how these systems* can be used to guide participation towards given goals. As indicated above, previous work on open-ended systems has shown a fairly good understanding of what type of participation emerges during the event, yet that work does not address what the goal behind the system setup was. More focus is on audience response systems. Via Research Question 2, I will develop the performative conceptualization of hybrid interaction and examine what factors ensure hybrid interaction that is directed as desired.

Finally, the biggest challenge with the existing work is connected with lack of evaluation of these systems. In most cases, the question of "success" has not been addressed at all. In papers where evaluation is provided, the authors do not present more extensive elaboration. They confine themselves to partial-level insights into the phenomena. Via Research Question 3, I highlight the potential of normative frameworks from political science to support the evaluation and extend work on the use of normative frameworks, with the aim of taking the field further.

#### 14 2 Previous work on performative hybrid interaction

# Chapter 3

# Research strategy

The research I have conducted used a mixed set of data sources: (a) observations, (b) video recordings, (c) interviews, (d) surveys, and (e) digital-trace data. On account of the versatility of the data and methods, the work for the papers connected with this thesis applied *mixed-methods* research. That means that throughout the papers we report on combinations of quantitative and qualitative approaches. The work is situated within a *data-driven research paradigm* (Kitchin, 2014). With this paradigm, exploratory methods and confirmatory methods are used together to answer the research questions, and the research process is iterative. Each paper presents the methods that are used in the particular work reported upon more explicitly. I will also provide a short summary of the data sources and methods, in Table 3.3.

In this chapter, I address research strategy – that is, higher-level methodological considerations driving the work as a whole. I first discuss why I have chosen to use in-situ setups (Section 3.1); outline my steps from classical observation studies towards experimenting with the social groups (Section 3.2); and, finally, comment on why I have used a mixed-methods approach (Section 3.3). After this, I present the system that is used in these studies (Presemo), in Section 3.4, and the cases the work builds on, in Section 3.5, and I address the ethics aspects of my work in Section 3.6. Finally, I discuss the impact of cultural factors with regard to this research, in Section 3.8.

#### 3.1 Studying In-Situ Activities

A highly significant decision for my research was the choice to study the application in its natural use context, such as that of panels or education events (see Table 3.1 for description of these). Studies of this type, which are known as *field studies*,<sup>1</sup> have been widely debated within HCI and from a methodological standpoint (among others, see these works: Brown et al., 2011; Rogers, 2011; Johnson et al., 2012). Rogers (2011) has gone so far as to argue for the development of "wild theories." For her, wild theories are abstracted from field studies in combination with existing theories and via development of further theoretical insights. She characterized the aim of this research agenda as being to move beyond usability laboratories and understand use beyond the desktop. The wild theories describe technology use and interaction in a "natural environment," among people and in their day-to-day life – with all the interruptions this entails. While wild theories, therefore, are different from, for example, traditional predictive theories, they provide insights that aid in designing for the messy reality. The thesis overall and the findings presented here are focused on this call: I have aimed for several papers that develop new perspectives to

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$  I have chosen to use this articulation instead of *action research* because none of the studies follow the formal process of action research. In particular, we do not have feedback loops within the case studies; the research has always taken place after the empirical data collection.

help us understand; evaluate; and, ultimately, design for collocated interaction in planned events hybrid setups.

However, "wild methods" have raised methodological and reporting concerns. Brown et al. (2011) have called for more honest reporting of field studies' outcomes and encouraging, for example, more explicit reporting of failures. Furthermore, they suggested that replication is not a crucial part of in-the-wild studies, and they would rather embrace the importance of researchers' involvement and other situational factors in studies. Although I agree with Brown et al. (2011) on the complex social setup that exists when applications are studied in the wild, I do think replication of in-the-wild studies is vital too. Only through replication can the concepts be evaluated in a critical manner. This does, however, require the findings to be evolved to a suitable level of abstraction for wild theories and demands emphasis, for example, on concepts that assist in describing the phenomenon. Replications, therefore, should focus not on exact findings but on success related to these abstracted observations in contexts beyond the initial study. In this thesis, I will articulate such concepts and frame the research through theory's lenses to support the appropriate level of abstraction.

The call for study of in-situ activities has been made beyond the in-the-wild movement. Kurvinen et al. (2008) argued that social applications combining humans and technology ought to be studied in social situations. That is why computer-supported collaboration systems have a long history of using field methods. As Schmidt (2009) argued, this is the essence of traditional work in the computer-supported collaborative work domain; he stated that "in-depth studies of cooperative work 'in the wild' were considered a prerequisite for developing computer technologies for human interaction." This observation is still valid today. Many modern studies have examined social interaction through a field-trial setup. The studies we examined in Chapter 2, by Yardi (2006); Bergstrom et al. (2011); Du et al. (2012b, 2009, 2012a); Harry et al. (2012); McCarthy and {b}oyd (2005); Harry et al. (2009); Rekimoto et al. (1998), employ setups of this type. Following this tradition of computer-supported cooperative work and the call for wild theories, all research presented in this thesis is based on field studies and is, therefore, in-situ.

#### 3.2 Conducting Experiments with Social Applications

Methodologically, the main challenge of in-situ studies is lack of control. There have been calls to conduct *field trials* to increase the control in traditional in-situ studies (Oulasvirta, 2012). For example, in group situations, it is hard to separate the effects of the technology from social and contextual factors. To illustrate these challenges, we consider the study by Du et al. (2012a), who claimed that their technology increased the sense of community among the students who used it in the classroom. They presented evidence of the sense-of-community measurements (Rovai, 2002; Peterson et al., 2008) before, during, and after the classes where the technology was used. Seeing an increase in these measurements, they attributed this to the technology. Naturally, it might be plausible that a sense of community in any class increases with the number of times the group gathers. The researchers would have needed to compare these effects to those seen with a class not using the technology if wishing to evaluate its true success in terms of increasing the feeling of community.

After this criticism of a single case, I must acknowledge that experiments with social groups are difficult. For example, formal field studies are rarely used in political science, because of the unclear causality structures, coupled with general unfamiliarity with experimental setups and the practicalities of running such experiments (Green and Gerber, 2003). However, when successful, they provide information which can be applied and has high value for practitioners (e.g., used for policy development; see, Green and Gerber, 2003; Stoker, 2010), thereby creating more need for such experimental setups. In my view,

the challenges are related to several contextual and social factors that make a proper experimental setup difficult to achieve. Naturally, with large user populations, such effects are reduced by randomization, so causal claims are possible (Green and Gerber, 2003), but when our unit of analysis is a group, the number of groups needed for ensuring such randomization is large. Although there are interesting examples of research-at-large studies (e.g., McMillan et al., 2010), wherein a system is deployed to a large number of users in settings "in the wild," our mixed analysis approaches (see Section 3.3) did not allow for this scale of procedures.

To illustrate the challenges of experimental research, I will describe a failure of pilot studies during my work. I tried a setup in which two distinct interfaces were served to users; half were served interface A and half received interface B. This followed the common approach for conducting an A/B study but did not work as I had hoped. The participants saw that others had a different interface and, therefore, assumed the system to be broken. Such forms of between-subjects designs that would still factor in most of the interesting social settings seemed difficult to implement. Accordingly, the experimental setups were focused on within-subjects designs instead. In these settings, we subjected the same participants to multiple experimental conditions. Of the works presented in this thesis, papers V and IV present such experimental variation. For Paper IV, students discussed the assigned homework, alternating between using hybrid interaction tools for this and using traditional face-to-face interaction. Through this procedure, we examined the difference between hybrid and face-to-face interaction. For Paper V, switching between anonymous and non-anonymous conditions was performed at one-month intervals. Our study focused on the assumed differences between anonymous and non-anonymous conditions, but we did not actually find any. These setups respond to the calls that were made to have some controls in place to examine the field setups. They also provided access to previously understudied questions surrounding the impacts of hybrid interaction in the context of group work.

#### 3.3 The Mixed-Methods Approach

The aforementioned list of data sources shows that the work used a variety of data sources and analysis methods to consider the research questions. Instead of using methods separately, I have used mixed methods to answer the research questions. I chose to use triangu*lation* to ensure correct interpretation of the data. This motivation has been behind many calls for more triangulation in research (for example, on audience response systems; see Kay and LeSage, 2009) In triangulation, the research question is answered by using several data sources and methods that either provide additional support or challenge one's findings. For example, in the work presented in Paper V, analysis based on reviews of video recordings suggested that a teacher moved about in the classroom to monitor students. Our additional interviews with the pupils gave additional support to this interpretation, but the interviews with the teachers called this analysis into question. This anecdotal demonstration shows the benefits of using several data sources if one is to understand social interaction correctly. Similarly, scholars such as Jordan and Henderson (1995) recommend that video-based interaction analysis take place in "video review sessions" where study participants talk and explain what happens in the video. The interviews served a similar purpose. The high number of participants and length of the video recordings made use of the interviews a more suitable approach.

Although mixed methods and triangulation are widely promoted, less is said about how such triangulation is conducted. For example, "big-data-augmented ethnography" (see Laaksonen et al., 2017, co-authored by me) suggests an iterative research process. In this form of iterative process, the researchers can change the methodological approach to gain additional insights and inform further inquiries on that basis, although the reporting on the research is often more explicit and narrow. Even in demonstration work (Laaksonen et al., 2017) that separates between the ethnographic and computational observations, the research process has had this type of iterative nature. For example, in the case of Paper IV, the finding that, while similar levels of respect were shown according to the survey conducted, students' open-ended responses did not explicitly support the survey responses, which led to further examination of the discussion content via quantitative and qualitative measurements. This research was driven by qualitative analysis and supported through further quantitative analysis, which then also allowed the qualitative work to home in on particular aspects. Using this process, we were able to show the forms in which respect was indicated and, thereby, uncover and work with students' qualitative observations that were not fully captured through the survey.

#### 3.4 The Presemo System

The Presemo system – which we used in the studies – supports performative hybrid interaction. It is used by the performers and spectators at planned events and improves their interaction by providing a computer-mediated communication channel to support the performance. It allows various modes of interaction, such as free-form text interaction and polls, and permits changing the interaction mode during the performance.

The Presemo system is used via a Web browser (including those on smartphones and other high-end mobile devices with a modern mobile browser). The Presemo system contains one or more interactive blocks and has four interfaces to show these blocks to spectators and performers. The choice to use a Web browser also allows each of these interfaces to have more than one device connected to it, thus making it possible to, for example, distribute control of the performance via the performer interfaces.

The four interfaces reflect the diverse needs that events have – in particular, to support performer and audience roles (Kuikkaniemi, 2017). The spectators use the participant interface (see Figure 3.1a) to view and participate in the digital activities, the public interface (see Figure 3.1b) is used to show the Presemo content to everyone in the space (e.g., via a data projector or television screen) and limits the display to only one block at a time, and the performers use their interfaces (see Figure 3.1c and Figure 3.1d) to manage the content shown via the other interfaces. The two separate performer interfaces provide various abilities to conduct this management; in particular, the first one can be used to create, show, and hide interactive blocks, whereas the second does not allow for such functionality.

The Presemo system has three individual interaction modes, allowing for various levels of spectator participation and engagement. The simplest form of interaction is the poll interface (see Figure 3.2a), in which the spectators choose from a preset list of options and votes are shown in a bar chart on the public displays. A variation of this is the voting interface (see Figure 3.2b), where the spectators can propose alternatives for voting and vote from among them. The most advanced form of interaction is enabled via the chat interface (in Figure 3.2c), where the spectators have an opportunity to provide any textual response they would like and the interaction is not limited to voting. Since the chat interface allows the most free-form participation, it is the component of primary interest for my research.

Each of these interfaces can be initialized to one or more blocks. Each block is a separate instance of the interface and can have its own title and content shown. Also, each block can be shown to and hidden from the spectators by means of the management interface, and the content within the block can be managed. For example, in the chat blocks, a particular message can be deleted or be highlighted (shown more prominently in

| What platform do you plan to study? |   |  |  |  |  |
|-------------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
|                                     |   |  |  |  |  |
| Send                                |   |  |  |  |  |
| Choose                              | Suomi24   |  |  |  |  |
| Choose                              | Twitter   |  |  |  |  |
| Choose                              | News sites  |  |  |  |  |
| Choose                              | I'll be using data from different social media platforms (Facebock, Instagram, various blogs) |  |  |  |  |
| Choose                              | Facebook  |  |  |  |  |
| Choose                              | YouTube   |  |  |  |  |
| Choose                              | Public service news on web (Yie, BBC, SVT, ARD), probably justYie at this point               |  |  |  |  |

(a) Spectator interface, outlined in more detail in Figure 3.2.

| 0  | Web   | @ Scree          | 2N              |          | -            | -"            |               |                | ± 12 ≓ 1d ago  | ۰ | + | + |  |
|--|---|------------------|-----------------|----------|--------------|---------------|---------------|----------------|----------------|---|---|---|--|
| S  | Writing   | @ Messa          | <b>Q1</b> 8     | O Mos    | deration     | C Rating      | O Likert      | O StdDev       |                |   | _ |   |  |
| Wh   | at plati  | form da          | you             | plan     | to stud      | dy?           |               |                |                |   |   |   |  |
|  |   |                  |                 |          |              |               |               |                |                |   | - |   |  |
| un   | ent resul   | its:             |                 |          |              |               |               |                |                |   |   |   |  |
| 5)Y<br>1)F   | ouTube<br>acebook   |                  |                 |          |              |               |               |                |                |   |   |   |  |
| 3) F   | ublic ser   | vice news        | on we           | ıb (Yle, | BBC, S       | VT, ARD), pr  | obably just 1 | Yle at this po | int            |   |   |   |  |
|  |   |                  |                 |          |              |               |               |                |                |   |   |   |  |
| (1) [  | I be usin   | g data fro       | m diffe         | irent so | ocial med    | dia platforms | s (Facebook   | , instagram,   | valious blogs) |   |   |   |  |
| 1)  <br>1)  \<br>1)  T                             | I be usin<br>ews site<br>witter                           | g data fro<br>s  | m diffe         | irent so | ocial med    | dia platforms | s (Facebook   | , instagram,   | valous blogs)  |   |   |   |  |
| 1) N<br>1) N<br>1) T<br>0) S                       | I be usin<br>ews siter<br>witter<br>uomi24                | ig data fro<br>s | m diffe         | irent sc | ocial med    | dia platforms | s (Facebook   | , instagram,   | valious blogs) |   |   |   |  |
| 1) F<br>1) N<br>1) T<br>0) S                       | I be usin<br>ews site<br>witter<br>uomi24                 | g data fro<br>s  | m diffe         | irent sc | ocial med    | dia platforms | s (Facebook   | , instagram,   | valous blogs)  |   |   |   |  |
| (1) F<br>(1) N<br>(1) T<br>(0) S                   | I be usin<br>ews siter<br>witter<br>uomi24                | ig data fro<br>s | m diffe         | erent so | ocial med    | dia platforms | iv            | , instagram,   | valious blogs) |   |   |   |  |
| 1) F<br>1) N<br>1) T<br>0) S                       | I be usin<br>ews siter<br>witter<br>uomi24<br>nd          | ig data fro<br>s | m diffe         | erent sc | ocial med    | dia platforms | iv            | , instagram,   | valious blogs) |   |   |   |  |
| (1) F<br>(1) N<br>(1) T<br>(0) S                   | I be usin<br>ews siter<br>witter<br>uomi24                | ig data fro<br>s | m diffe         | irent sc | scial med    | dia platforms | iv            | , instagram,   | valious blogs) |   |   |   |  |
| (1)   <br>(1) N<br>(1) T<br>(0) S<br>(0) S         | I be usin<br>ews sites<br>witter<br>uomi24<br>nd<br>Choos | ig data fro<br>s | m diffe         | iz4      | ×            | dia platforms | iv            | , instagram,   | valious blogs) |   |   |   |  |
| (1) (1)<br>(1) N<br>(1) T<br>(0) S<br>(0) S<br>(0) | I be usin<br>ews sites<br>witter<br>uomi24<br>Choos       | g data fro<br>s  | m diffe<br>Suom | i24      | x<br>stabase | dia platforms | iv            | , instagram,   | valious blogs) |   | i |   |  |

(c) Control interface: showing user-created content (i) and managing block visibility (ii), actions (iii) and user-created content management (iv).

(d) Control interface: showing user-created content (i) and addressing user-created con-

Figure 3.1: Presemo user interfaces and their role-specific interfaces.



Figure 3.2: Presemo user interfaces' interactive blocks.

presemo.helsinki.fi/digitalmethods2017

What platform do you plan to study?

| YouTube   | 5 |
|---|---|
| Facebook  | 4 |
| Public service news on web (Yle, BBC, SVT, ARD), probably just Yle at this point              | 3 |
| I'll be using data from different social media platforms (Facebook, instagram, various blogs) | 1 |
| News sites  | 1 |
| Twitter   | 1 |

(b) Public interface, which shows one block at a time. to study?

|   | at plationin ut  | you plain to study?                         |   |
|---|--|---|---|
| (5)<br>(4)<br>(3)<br>(1)<br>vari<br>(1)<br>(1)<br>(0) | YouTube<br>Facebook<br>Public servic<br>I'll be using o<br>ious blogs)<br>News sites<br>Twitter<br>Suomi24 | e news on web (Yle<br>lata from different s | BBC, SVT, ARD), probably just Yle at this point<br>cial media platforms (Facebook, instagram, |
| Se<br>(0)   | nd   | Suomi24                                     |   |
| (1)   | Choose   | Twitter                                     |   |

tent (iv).

the public interface). The system lets more than one block be used at a time, allowing for the creation of two or more distinct blocks for participation that are available for spectators simultaneously.

The Presemo system was developed by the Digital Content Communities research group at Helsinki Institute for Information Technology. It has been released under the GNU Affero GPL and is available on GitHub, at https://github.com/HIIT/presemo. I have used the system as-is or implemented minor modifications to the interface (such as to allow the threading of messages) and discussed the designs and opportunities with the lead designer, also conducting research with him (for details, see his thesis: Kuikkaniemi, 2017). My main contribution is not to development of the system but to studies of its use.

#### 3.5 The Instances Studied

The work is based on studies of 14 instances, mostly from various types of gatherings, with presentations or panel discussions and in the field of education (see Table 3.1). These instances originate from various sources, which explains the methodological differences between them.

I set up four instances (I, Va and Vb, and IV) to conduct research. With some instances, we had more control and agreement from the participants, and instances Va and Vb and IV used an experimental setup to conduct comparative studies. The initial study (I), in contrast, was an ordinary field study. The research group was involved in designing and implementing instances IIIa, IIId, and IIIf. I was involved in the planning and implementation of these instances.

Finally, seven instances emerged without extensive involvement from our research team. Instances IIc, IIIh, and IIIe were available to us because Presemo was in commercial use at the University of Helsinki and Aalto University and some teachers and presenters allowed us to examine how they used it. We did not participate extensively in the design of these instances. Instances IIa and IIb, IIIb, and IIIc were available to us since the Presemo technology was commercialized and employed by the company in these instances. The company was involved also in the designing of these instances in line with its best practices at the time.

Not only was the researchers' participation varied, but also the level of freedom and open-endedness differed among the instances in which the researchers participated. Instances I, Va, and Vb were open-ended, focusing on making technology available to the group and examining how it is used. In contrast, instances IIIa and IV were more closedended: the research had pre-articulated assumptions or goals and could be claimed to "verify" a theory. Instances IIId and IIIf were used to examine various patterns of use, but in our work, they were used to demonstrate several orchestration opportunities. Finally, I must stress that even the instances in which the researchers brought in the technology and designed the setups themselves were within an existing social context and, therefore, were in situ and in the wild.

| ID    | Description  | Domain         |
|-------|--|----------------|
| Ι     | An elementary school class (students were 12–13 years old)               | Education      |
|       | used Presemo for one month as instructed by the teacher. The             |                |
|       | teacher chose to use topics such as puberty and changes in one's         |                |
|       | body, opinions on energy consumption and renewable energy,               |                |
|       | and experiences and opinions from a book author's visit, all of          |                |
| TT    | which reflected the curriculum for that age band.                        | D              |
| Ha    | Discussion centered on the development of immigration policy,            | Presentations  |
|       | included experts' and policy presentations followed by a discus          | sion           |
|       | sion   | 51011          |
| IIb   | A panel discussed how the city could support entrepreneurship            | Panel discus-  |
| 110   | and examine trends in the future of entrepreneurship. The event          | sion           |
|       | included a panel discussion with short introductory presenta-            | 51011          |
|       | tions examining these topics.  |                |
| IIc   | Future challenges facing education development at the univer-            | Presentations  |
|       | sity were discussed and explored. Participants involved teachers         | and panel      |
|       | and staff members from several departments at the university.            | discussion     |
| IIIa  | An academic panel discussion was held on big data in HCI re-             | Panel and      |
|       | search. Panelists presented their work on the topic, after which         | other discus-  |
|       | audience members and panelists (and, through Presemo, the                | sion           |
|       | whole audience) discussed the opportunities and challenges to-           |                |
| ШЬ    | getner.<br>The ease involved a marketing factival for sharing the latest | Procentation   |
| 1110  | news related to trends in information technology and marketing           | resentation    |
|       | with corporations' representatives.                                      |                |
| IIIc  | A strategy meeting was held to discuss current and future trends         | Presentation   |
|       | in mobility with the organization's staff and external stakehold-        | and discus-    |
|       | ers, in connection with the organization's strategy work.                | sion           |
| IIId  | At a state-of-the-art presentation and industry gathering, the           | Presentation   |
|       | latest information on industrial Internet development was                | and discus-    |
|       | shared. One aim was to understand how various members of                 | sion           |
|       | the relevant association discussed how they apply industrial in-         |                |
|       | used extensively to collect facts from participants, which were          |                |
|       | then examined during the event and after it                              |                |
| IIIe  | At an annual meeting of academic personnel, the future of the            | Presentations  |
|       | research institute and of university support services were pre-          | and meeting    |
|       | sented. The first presenter asked to be interrupted during his           | 0              |
|       | presentation, but the second and third presenters preferred to           |                |
|       | answer questions at the end of their presentations.                      |                |
| IIIf  | A panel discussion and other discussion examined the future of           | Presentations  |
|       | work. The participants were a group of lead users taking part in         |                |
|       | a seminar on the future of work. The presenters asked questions          |                |
|       | and commented on the results as their performance.                       |                |
| IIIg  | A single class was observed during the semester via the instance         | Education      |
| IIIh  | Va.<br>A university lecture focused on techniques for promoting good     | Education      |
| 11111 | oral hypiene.  | Luucanon       |
|       | Continue   | s on next page |

| ID | Description  | Domain    |
|----|--|-----------|
| IV | In six university classes, Presemo was used to supplement and    | Education |
|    | partially replace face-to-face interaction in discussion of aca- |           |
|    | demic papers and to understand their core messages.              |           |
| Va | elementary school classes used Presemo for one semester to sup-  | Education |
|    | plement interaction during teaching. The teacher chose the top-  |           |
|    | ics for which Presemo was used and set up Presemo interaction    |           |
|    | blocks based on those settings.                                  |           |
| Vb | elementary school classes used Presemo for one semester to sup-  | Education |
|    | plement interaction during teaching. The teacher chose the top-  |           |
|    | ics for which Presemo was used and set up Presemo interaction    |           |
|    | blocks based on those settings.                                  |           |

Table 3.1 – continued from previous page

Table 3.1: Description of the instances studied.

#### 3.6 Research Ethics

Currently, questions of research ethics of social computing are being debated in big data research. The ethics debates have focused, for example, on the lack of consent and awareness of participating in research as well as data availability in big data research (among others, boyd and Crawford, 2012). However, these issues highlight the importance of ethical research conduct in all studies. In my research, the ethics questions are less ambiguous, mostly since the data collection is less extensive than that with automated data collection. Therefore, applying the principles of informed consent is sufficient. We do not cause physical harm to the subjects, cause long-term mental harm, or do anything of that sort; the research is of minimal risk and follows established practices (National Advisory Board on Research Ethics, 2009). Accordingly, whenever the group of participants could be identified, written informed consent was used as the primary ethical approach. When we studied minors, this was part of school activities, where informed consent is sufficient for study (National Advisory Board on Research Ethics, 2009). Since some participants were minors, informed consent was requested from both the participating children and their parents, in keeping with international best practices (e.g., Robinson and Schulz, 2013; Byrne et al., 2013).

Instances I, IIIh, IV, Va, and Vb used explicit informed consent. In instances IIIa, IIId, IIIe, and IIIf, the participants were informed about the data collection verbally and via other means. Explicit informed consent was not possible, since the participant pool was not fixed and could, for example, change during the course of the event.

The rest of the instances did not involve explicit or implicit informed consent from the participants. In these instances (IIa, IIb, IIc, IIIb, and IIIc), we asked permission to analyze the data and limited the use of personally identifying information from our analysis. Therefore, we analyzed only content that was visible to all participants at these public events.

Finally, ethics is more than consent and can be considered as a process (e.g., Markham and Buchanan, 2012; Brown et al., 2016). It is focused on harming neither the research subjects nor their communities or events that protect them (e.g., Markham and Buchanan, 2012). In consideration of these factors, in my research and the papers presented here, we have aimed not to identify participants. Instead, we have used anonymous contributions only. The system and users' interaction were designed to be non-coercive and not used against those participating – e.g., in terms of evaluating each pupil's contributions during

| Research Question 0 | Paper I               |
|---------------------|-----------------------|
| Research Question 1 | Papers II, III, and V |
| Research Question 2 | Papers III and V      |
| Research Question 3 | Paper IV              |

Table 3.2: Research questions and the contributing papers.

educational uses. Therefore, I believe the participation to have posed minimal risk to participants, and I am not aware of any harm caused by this research.

#### 3.7 Summary of the Publications

As Table 3.2 shows, some publications address more than one research question. Therefore, I have chosen not to summarize the work done in each of the publications in the thesis itself accordingly; the papers are appended and form a holistic entity. However, at this juncture, I will summarize the data collection and analysis strategies used (see Table 3.3), along with the core findings presented in each of the papers, to help the reader situate the work further.

- Paper I reports on a small, one-class field trial of the Presemo system at an elementary school. The focus of this study was on open-ended understanding of what happens when Presemo is used in the classroom context and what is done there. In more precise terms, the paper discusses the impact of anonymity on message content and how pupils experienced the Presemo system. The main finding was that anonymity should not be considered harmful; rather, it supported self-expression in a tight and small social group. Furthermore, the level of harmful effects of anonymity i.e., of spam-like content was on par with that found in prior research.
- **Paper II** covers a three-instance study of the messaging patterns in Presemo chats and focuses on understanding any patterns that might emerge. We conducted Interaction Process Analysis (IPA, see Bales, 1950) to examine the forms of interaction in conversation threads. After that, we analyzed how the message sequences are built and observed that there are clear state transitions; a message from a given IPA category is most likely to be followed by a response of the same type. We concluded, therefore, that participants followed some patterns in these conversations or that there are certain overall social rules that govern this interaction.
- **Paper III** considers eight Presemo instances and how performers decided to use the tools involved. One of the instances was chosen for detailed analysis (IIIa): detailed video analysis and interviews with performers and spectators were conducted. This revealed integration work, activities that performers conduct to ensure that Presemo is part of the physical performance and extended performance, with the idea that Presemo was used to support the physical performance. The studies of all eight instances focused on episodes: the various types of means of using Presemo and how performers often chose to present via one means for only a limited period of time. The analysis of the means showed how Presemo afforded different configurations of performers' and spectators' roles in control and initiations.
- **Paper IV** explores how Presemo participation differed from face-to-face participation in the classroom. To this end, we carried out an experimental study wherein a class used both Presemo and face-to-face approaches to discuss a paper. The analysis applied the theory of the public sphere (Dahlberg, 2001; Dryzek, 2002; Habermas,

| Research Question       | 0            | 1            | 2            | 3            |
|-------------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| Paper(s)                | Ι            | II           | III          | IV           |
|                         |              | III          | V            |              |
|                         |              | V            |              |              |
| Spectator interviews    | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ |              |
| Performer interviews    |              | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ |              |
| Presemo data            | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ |
| Surveys                 | $\checkmark$ |              |              | $\checkmark$ |
| Video recordings        |              | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ |
| Thematic classification | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ |              |
| Codebook classification | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ |              | $\checkmark$ |
| Descriptive statistics  | $\checkmark$ |              |              |              |
| Statistical analysis    |              | $\checkmark$ |              | $\checkmark$ |
| Experimental setup      |              |              |              | $\checkmark$ |
| Log analysis            | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ | $\checkmark$ |              |

Table 3.3: Data and methods, research questions, and papers.

1989; Held, 2006) for understanding how the communication spaces are different in classroom discussion. Presemo was found to be more inclusive for participation, no differences were found in the respectfulness of the discussion, and face-to-face interaction was found to be supported by claims and arguments. Furthermore, the paper discusses the normative aspects of using Presemo and the values that are encoded – by the performer – in the system.

**Paper V** examines the norm violations and norm management in an elementary school class. The setting was a field experiment in which the impact of anonymity was studied in terms of norm violations. The findings reveal that the norms with Presemo-supported communication settings are different from those of pure computer-mediated communications (since the anonymity did not have an impact on the number of norm violations). Therefore, the focus shifted to examining the norm violations and how they are created, and a conceptual model was developed. The conceptual model informed us about norm violation spillovers, showing how norm violations travel from one channel to another channel. Similarly, the study of teachers' norm management showed how an imbalance of presence in these channels emerged. This might explain the existence of norm violations.

As Table 3.3 summarizes and as discussed in Section 3.3, the insights described above were gained via both quantitative and qualitative methods. For me, the contributions of the papers lie in the ability to engage with existing theories and frameworks through the papers. The resulting engagement work is done mainly in this thesis, not the papers. The brief characterizations of the papers above suffice to provide overall context and explication of how the ideas have emerged and the way they are backed by evidence. I will continue making explicit references to the papers below as I discuss specific evidence or ideas presented in them.

#### 3.8 Impact of the Research Context: A Replication

In response to the replication crisis, scientists have called for more replication research. This includes the human–computer interaction field (e.g., Wilson et al., 2012). This is particularly critical for examining social applications, since there can be various cultural and other contextual factors that affect the use of the application (e.g., Sassen, 2002; Sturm et al., 2015; Reinecke et al., 2013).

In our case, the differences may stem from the participants and the Finnish cultural context. Some of the studies entail experiments with children, who are still learning the skills and practices of technology use (Livingstone et al., 2011). Therefore, they might not have full experience related to, for example, the social rules in mediated interactions. Finally, Finnish society (as is society in other Nordic countries) is characterized by high social trust and social capital and by equality (Castells and Himanen, 2002). This might create increased trust between people and promote pro-social behavior.

As Chapter 2 discussed, the work within this domain has been scattered across various themes. However, the one aspect dealt with in several works – even while operationalized in various, inconsistent ways – is that observation has focused on off-task messaging, or "spamming" the system with irrelevant content. Du et al. (2009) studied college students in the United States and reported that unrelated content constituted 19% of messages in the system. Similarly, Bergstrom et al. (2011) studied US college students, observing that 43% of messages were off-topic. While the two studies show a difference of 24 percentage points – most likely attributable to different ways to classify content as irrelevant – they offer some baseline of what might be seen.

Paper I examines how Finnish elementary students used Presemo over a one-month period under the guidance of their teacher (see Table 3.1's Instance I for further details). We classified the content by using definitions similar to those in previous work and found unrelated, off-topic content in the case of 26% of messages. This figure is marginally higher than the lowest observed (19%, by Du et al., 2009) but is clearly below the highest seen (the 43% of Bergstrom et al., 2011).

I find that this evidence indicates that the study context – even with elementary school students – does not produce results different from United States counterparts'. However, this replication study did not extensively explore variations in, for instance, the social settings of the study. Additionally, other indicators could also be used in replication studies beyond the measurement of unrelated content. Yet this was the only measurement reported in more than a single paper in the body of literature. Therefore, this is the best that can be done with the existing body of literature.

The work presented in Paper I was an early attempt to reflect on the social and contextual factors related to hybrid interaction. It seems that indicative evidence allows us to say that there are no obvious social and contextual factors that might bias the findings, for our study came to conclusions similar to those in earlier work in this domain. Hence, I argue that our work here can tie in with the previous literature and, thereby, allow us to move forward with theoretical work.

3 Research strategy

# Chapter 4

## Social rules in the hybrid space

With Finding 1, I argue that hybrid spaces create interaction layers with different social rules. To support this claim here, I must first present the social rules – the customs, codes, norms, and so on that are socially produced and regulate social interaction (Burns and Flam, 1987), in both spheres. I do so by examining social norms (Paper V) and interaction patterns in hybrid space (see Paper II). I will first review earlier observations on hybrid spaces; I will then conduct a sociological exploration of social rules and end by presenting the empirical work on this topic.

#### 4.1 Related Work

Many authors within the field of human-computer interaction have aimed to study collocated settings — those settings where digital and other communication layers are used together (e.g., Harry et al., 2009; Du et al., 2009; Lee and Tatar, 2014; Rodríguez-Triana et al., 2016). In Section 1.1, I discussed hybrid spaces to frame the context of this work. Although the link to the hybrid space and to prior literature on it is a novel contribution, I am not the first to argue that physical and digital communication have merged.

To understand the merging of physical and digital communication, Lee and Tatar (2014) examined collaborative problem-solving using digital tools in collocated settings to understand merger of physical and digital communication. They distinguished among the social space (face-to-face interaction), the digital space (problem-solving and mediated interaction), and each individual's cognitive space (mental processing). Therefore, the problem-solving takes place in *triple space* as the three distinct spaces merge. Lee and Tatar then demonstrated that the social space was used to supplement interaction (i.e., the participants engaged in verbal discussions while aiming to perform the task that was given to them).

Unlike Lee and Tatar (2014), Rodríguez-Triana et al. (2016) identified two channels when examining the use of social media in collocated classrooms. Their focus was on the type of interactions that both the face-to-face and social media interaction afforded, counting the interactions between the performers (teachers) and the spectators (students) and within each of these groups. Their analysis revealed that face-to-face interaction was dominated by performer-to-spectator communication (90.4% of the time) and that the social media channel was focused on spectator-to-spectator communication (94.1% of the messages). Therefore, they concluded that the social media interaction complemented the face-to-face interaction.

Regrettably, the two works discussed above used slightly different terms to explain the use of multiple interaction spheres. The two works nonetheless establish ideas related to the same phenomenon – interactions that take place both in a computer-mediated manner and in a face-to-face manner in collocated settings. In this thesis, I have called this hybrid interaction that takes place in hybrid space. The above-cited authors are not the only ones to have used other terms to describe such phenomena. Even our work has used several concepts – dual-sphere interaction (see Paper V) and the performance and extended performance (see Paper III) – to address this phenomenon. This fragmentation of the terms used poses challenges for the further elaboration of these settings. For example, it becomes more difficult to identify factors related to the context of use. To illustrate, the idea of triple space may be most suitable for explorations of dyadic communication, whereas the performance and extended performance may be best suited to presentation situations. The dual-sphere interaction in the hybrid space seems to be the most generalized form; although it does not include all the functions in this literature, it does capture the essence of the interaction.

Researchers have acknowledged the existence of several communication channels layers (or *spheres*, as we call them in this thesis). So the creation of a hybrid space – an interaction situation that utilizes more than one sphere – leads to a natural question with respect to the types of interaction in these spheres. As presented in Section 2, prior research describes what kind of communication takes place in the digital sphere and how it occurs. To understand the interaction in the physical sphere, for Paper III we explored how presenters interacted with the digital sphere – that is, how they used verbal remarks about the digital sphere and looked at the public display that was showing the digital sphere. This allowed us to go beyond the digital sphere in our research into communication and interaction in the hybrid space. However, when examining these findings, we observed that the social rules in the hybrid spaces have not been further described.

#### 4.2 Theoretical Background

Social rules theory and group norms combine to provide a framework through which one can explore the rules of interaction in the hybrid space and thus provide the supportive theoretical apparatus for Research Question 1. Here, a group is "two or more people [who] define themselves as members of [the group] when the existence [of the group] is recognized by at least one other" (Brown, 2000, 3). Furthermore, each group has some norms (or social rules) "governing transactions among agents"; that is, these rules condition – but do not determine – the emerging interaction in a social situation. In fact, these rules formulate the grammar that allows the interaction to emerge (Burns and Flam, 1987, 8, 13–14). These rules are present also in small-group interactions, but they are less studied within mainstream social rules theory, for which researchers have focused on the societal level of rules (Burns and Flam, 1987, 31–32). Therefore, to understand the social rules in the hybrid space, we apply the idea of social rules theory but link it with the group processes to relate it to smaller entities, such as classrooms.

Group processes focus on, for instance, group membership, interaction within the group, the group norms, the roles and statuses, and social influence in groups (e.g., Brown, 2000). In our case, the establishment of the group is clear (people being together is often due to some other context); the roles have been elaborated on (see Section 2.2); and the ways that interaction takes place have been described, as seen in Section 2.2 and in the work of Rodríguez-Triana et al. (2016). However, the rules that are used in these cases are less known. Still, the idea of rules has been used within human–computer interaction for examining organizations and information technology. For example, March (1991) noted that the decisions in an organization are based on social rules rather than on pure rationality. He argued that the challenge therefore is often related to finding these social rules. We face a similar type of challenge in our work, since we do not know which types of norms, conventions, and so on regulate human behavior in these hybrid spaces.
|               |                | Onset in                |                          |  |
|---------------|----------------|-------------------------|--------------------------|--|
|               |                | digital sphere          | physical sphere          |  |
| ntinuation in | digital sphere | A user posts off-task   | Pupils are restless and  |  |
|               |                | content that encourages | contribute with off-task |  |
|               |                | others to do the same   | content (Paper V).       |  |
|               |                | (Harry et al., 2009).   |                          |  |
|               | physical       | Pupils react to Presemo | Pupils talk during class |  |
|               | sphere         | content by laughing     | and distract others      |  |
| ŭ             |                | (Paper V).              | (Behnke et al., 1981).   |  |

Table 4.1: Norm violations, by their onset and continuation in various spheres, adapted from Paper V.

Although the theory of social rules (among other institutional approaches) has gained some currency in the social sciences, no clear paradigm seems to exist with regard to how to apply this theory (Burns and Flam, 1987, 31–32). We aimed to conduct our study empirically to explore patterns of social behaviors and thereby determine which types of rules can be formulated. For example, the patterns of interaction can be classified and examined as action-reaction pairs. Through interaction process analysis (Bales, 1950), a researcher can classify interactions as acts (such as the act of giving orientation or the act of asking for orientation) and can then examine what these interaction acts demonstrate (e.g., the use of orientation patterns indicates problems with communication). When examining these acts, we also can determine which types of interaction take place and identify them by means of rules or even a grammar of interaction. Social norms are also a clear example of social rules, because they define the acceptable group conduct (Lapinski, 2005) and since breaking them often leads to sanctions (Ehrlich and Levin, 2005). Social norms can be categorized by how they are understood. Lapinski (2005) discussed collective norms (implicit norms within a group), perceived norms (individuals' perspectives on collective norms), injunctive norms (what the norms ought to be), and descriptive norms (those that are defined by actual sanctioning practice). In particular, the sanctioned activities - and, therefore, the descriptive norms - are interesting to study in hybrid settings. By understanding which kinds of behaviors the group sanctions, we can learn what limits the group's interactions and set up some rules for social interaction. In Paper V, we have described what violations of the descriptive norms can take place and shared insights about the norms in hybrid spaces. Since norms are only one component of social rules, in Paper II we continued to examine the patterns of interaction, to demonstrate the sustainability of the social rules in the investigation of hybrid interaction.

### 4.3 Findings

In Paper V, we explored how elementary school classes use Presemo. We observed various forms of unexpected uses that violated teachers' assumptions (or, more broadly, those of the school's contexts) about the proper uses of such systems. We referenced these as norm violations. Upon further examination of these types of norm violations, we chose to classify them on the basis of the spheres of onset (where the norm violations begin) and continuation (where the norm violations resume). The outcomes of this classification effort are summarized in Table 4.1.

As Table 4.1 demonstrates, we separated out the cases in which the norm violation began in the digital sphere and continued in the digital sphere. These norm violations include off-task messages, such as the sending of humorous, antisocial, or spam-like content (Harry et al., 2009). Cases in which the norm violation began in the digital sphere and continued in the digital sphere also existed in hybrid space. The prime example of this is spamming a system with off-task messages, which we discussed in Section 3.8.

Furthermore, our analysis revealed cases in which the onset and continuation took place in different spheres, thus demonstrating the hybrid nature of the technology. In a simple example of norm violation beginning in the physical sphere and continuing in the digital sphere, a restless audience engaged in off-task activities by creating humorous content in the digital sphere. Similarly, in various cases, digital norm violations led to continuations in the physical sphere. The most prominent example of this was when the audience started to laugh (a discouraged action) in response to the spam content posted in the system. Additional examples of these norm violations can be found in Paper V.

We used this theoretical lens to characterize the norm violations as onset-and-continuation pairs between the spheres, letting us describe the *spillover* between these spheres. In these cases, an activity in one of the spheres affects the other sphere. This supports our claim that there are additional communication spheres and also highlights that these spheres are not isolated, as interactions occur between them and as content moves across them.

Furthermore, the study presented in Paper V elaborated on how participants experienced the difference in norms between the spheres. Clearly, the digital sphere was novel to its users. Therefore, the guiding social norms of digital interaction were less clearly articulated than were those in the physical sphere. This allowed participants to behave rather differently in the hybrid interaction than in purely physical interactions. In the hybrid space, the existence of dual norms created additional challenges for behavior management (further explored in Chapter 5).

However, both my findings and others' results demonstrate that dual norms can have positive effects on interaction. For example, researchers examining group support systems have focused on the benefits such systems have for collaboration, including independence from others' opinions (e.g., Nunamaker et al., 1987; DeSanctis and Gallupe, 1987). Paper IV shows how the level of participation was higher when computer-mediated technology was used to support communication. Paper I describes how participants experienced that they could express themselves more freely when they did not need to follow the social norms. Therefore, a change in social norms clearly can have both positive and negative effects. However, these findings all point toward a difference in the social rules that is caused by the additional communication space.

Thus far, we have demonstrated that social rules differ between the spheres and, more importantly, that these spheres are not separated but instead are joined as a shared hybrid space for social interaction. These observations already provide evidence for Finding 1, since we showed that the norms in the situation were a hybrid of those for physical interaction and digital-interaction norms. To further support what is expressed as Finding 1, I addressed the social rules that guide behavior in the digital sphere. Paper II examines three distinct Presemo instances' use and focuses on how interaction took place in the digital environment. We used Interaction Process Analysis (IPA; see Bales, 1950) and classified the content that was produced in Presemo by using its 12 coding categories. Furthermore, we determined which messages were replies (i.e., looked at conversation threads). Because these instances demonstrated a high number of threaded conversations, including which types of interaction rules – if any – participants used.

Our first finding was related to the overall existence of interaction rules. We observed at a statistically sufficient level ( $\chi^2 = 18.214$ , df = 9, p = 0.033) that the response categories were not randomly distributed; instead, they followed patterns (see Table 4.2). For example, a question led to a higher probability of attempted answers among its responses. Socio-emotional communication had a high chance of having similar types of responses; in other words, a positive initial message was followed by positive responses. We called this *state robustness*; if a message had a particular tone, the responses seemed to follow that tone.

This approach extends the analysis of patterns, for which previous researchers have found long conversations to have been caused by open-ended initial questions or by controversial topics (Du et al., 2012b, 133–134). The patterns we observed are not striking in themselves. Our research question has to do more with the overall existence of these patterns in the mediated sphere as well. These patterns indicate that the conversations, when they exist, follow certain rules of social interaction, even in constructed communication channels that do not support such interactions via technical affordances.

### 4.4 Discussion

Above, we have acknowledged the existence of various interaction spheres in hybrid spaces and provided evidence of the existence of various social rules in these spheres. The strongest support for what I express as Finding 1 emerged as we examined the social norms and discussed the existence of various norms in the digital and physical spheres. I want to emphasize that the spheres' differences in social rules have both positive and negative implications. Furthermore, when examining the social rules, we observed that these interaction spheres can collide via spillovers of norm violations. We also showed that patterns direct interactions within the digital sphere.

With Paper V, we argue that there is no need to develop new conceptualizations of core social rules, such as norms or interactions. Rather, I hope we have articulated that, in these types of hybrid spaces, the social rules in all spheres must be accounted for in the analysis of a given social situation. These spheres are particularly important because various types of spillovers may take place between them; our analysis focused on norms and norm violations, but a similar idea can be applied to various other social rules.

Secondly, throughout the work, we aimed to inform system designers and those who manage these events about the potential implications of social rules in the hybrid spaces. Here I want to highlight three observations (these will be further discussed in Section 7.1): The first is that state robustness led us to recommend that moderation could drive messages by initializing them with a certain tone in the mediated space. The second is our proposal that, if this is possible, all actors should be present in both spheres. For example, the presenters' presence in the mediated space could be supported through simplified reactions that they could quickly trigger by using a mobile device. Furthermore, the difficulty of presenters being present in the digital sphere (due to the challenges of asymmetries, further considered in Chapter 5) could require automation of the digital system – for example, displaying only significant content or indicating when social rules have been broken. Similarly, a large interactive screen might provide opportunities to further integrate physical and digital spheres. The third observation is that, because the interaction spheres are linked together, one must observe behavior in the physical sphere (e.g., signs of restlessness) and adapt the interactions within the digital sphere accordingly.

|                       | Initial message category |                   |           |                    |
|-----------------------|--------------------------|-------------------|-----------|--------------------|
| Responses' categories | Positive reactions       | Attempted answers | Questions | Negative reactions |
| Positive reactions    | 10                       | 28                | 10        | 8                  |
| Attempted answers     | 9                        | 71                | 64        | 14                 |
| Questions             | 5                        | 35                | 21        | 7                  |
| Negative reactions    | 10                       | 61                | 29        | 12                 |

Table 4.2: Classification of the initial message and responses to it, adapted from Paper II.

Finally, although our analysis focused on interaction situations in which both digital and physical spheres are used, the idea of social rules existing within a communication sphere can be adapted to other contexts. For example, in communications using both email and online chat – two forms of remote collaboration – these two channels might foster different types of interactions. In the terminology we have presented here, several interaction spheres, each with social rules of its own, exist, and the users either behave in accordance with the corresponding practices in a given sphere or engage in spillover practices. Because interaction is now mediated via several tools, hybrid spaces also exist in non-collocated computer-mediated interactions.

# Chapter 5

## Directing hybrid interaction

With Finding 2, I argue that spectators and their participation can (and ought to) be directed to ensure that the digital sphere does not become isolated, thereby ensuring that the interaction spheres lead to a single performance in both spheres. This directing can take various forms, including technical modification of the digital sphere and its affordances as well as changes to the content in the physical sphere in reaction to actions in the digital sphere (and vice versa).

With Finding 2, I continue the argument from Finding 1, with which I established the importance of the various social rules in the hybrid space. The importance of active management becomes apparent in acknowledging that the hybrid space has particular social rules, as Finding 1 shows. Thus, there is a potential for spillovers, which could undermine the interaction in both spheres.

To answer Research Question 2, related to directing hybrid interaction, I must describe what active management means in hybrid space and demonstrate active management's importance for the overall performance. I will also examine active management practices (dealt with in papers III and V) and offer a proposition as to how active management is established in the hybrid space.

### 5.1 Related Work

Proceeding from earlier work (see Section 2.2), I identified two distinct user roles: spectators and performers. The spectators primarily followed the presentation taking place at the event – and were activated via technology. The performers were involved in the planning and execution of the event process. As I acknowledged in Chapter 4, I reiterate here that this is hardly the first project to observe the performers as they conduct management to ensure that the digital and the physical spheres are in sync. For example, Harry et al. (2009) described situations in which the facilitators were present at the event and marking certain questions (which the audience had sent via the digital sphere) as having been answered so that they could be hidden. In this way, the facilitators ensured that the digital sphere represented the activities in the physical sphere. Similarly, although not using the term "facilitators," McCarthy and {b}ovd (2005) showed how panel organizers joined the digital sphere to directly address concerns arising from the digital sphere, including the logistics of an event and clarifications regarding the activities in the physical sphere. Again, the spectators could see the reactions to their activities, making it clear that the digital channel is interactive not only for peers but also for the people in the conference audience. Finally, Kuikkaniemi (2017) argued that there is a need for various types of performers and organizers. Support can be provided through each type having a distinct interface for the same content, and a single content interface can be used for management of all the interfaces. Therefore, it seems obvious that performers should be present in or at least aware of the digital sphere, to ensure that the hybrid space is created rather than there being two separate spaces (to my knowledge, only Kuikkaniemi, 2017, has explicitly argued this).

Although the discussion above focused on what performers can do to ensure that the digital and physical spheres are in sync, this work is related to planning the content in the digital sphere. Audience response system literature has addressed these aspects further with regard to education. To illustrate, Beatty et al. (2005, 2006) suggested particular patterns (which they called tactics) for directing attention, raising awareness, stimulating cognitive processes or promoting articulatory discussion, and evaluating matters in an educational context. This indicates an important aspect: the digital tools can be used to support various aims (which we too have addressed, in Paper III). For each of these aims, Beatty et al. indicated the qualifications the question might be given for purposes of driving the students' participation accordingly. For example, they stated that questions promoting articulation and discussion can be formulated in seven ways. Questions promoting articulation and discussion can be formulated for concepts and ideas but nor for specifics (such as formulae), thereby requiring decision-making and reasoning on the students' part. These questions can have several defensible answers, depending on students' interpretations. They can be designed to generate disagreement between students, by being deliberately ambiguous. Alternatively, they can force students to formulate the unstated assumptions, trap them in unjustified assumptions, or help to identify common misconceptions. In highlighting the design space for question formulation, Beatty et al. (2006) presented 23 individual ideas on how to formulate questions for particular aims. Although this type of discussion has taken place in the educational domain, there has been little clear articulation of the opportunities that drive certain aims behind using the digital sphere.

To summarize the related work, I can state that, while interaction requires proper processes and proper functionality to be in place (Stromer-Galley, 2004), the existing research that has focused on hybrid space applications has not clearly articulated how this takes place or how it should be conceptualized. Informed by studies of interactive tools used for or as performances (e.g., Reeves et al., 2005; Reeves, 2011; Dix et al., 2006; Sheridan et al., 2005), we explored these hybrid spaces with performers and spectators as the performances' groups.

## 5.2 Theoretical Background

Above, we used the term *performance* to explain our insights about events in the hybrid space. Broadly speaking, performances can as-performances or is-performances. The is-performances are actions that everyone considers to be performances, such as theater plays. These are limited to particular cases only and are therefore too limited to broaden our understanding of the interaction direction in the hybrid interaction. Instead, we focus on as-performances, which are part of day-to-day life; these include rituals (Schechner, 2013). The understanding of various social gatherings and activities as performances (for a review, see, for example, Dirksmeier and Helbrecht, 2008). The perspective of as-performance has also led to studies in human-computer interaction, particularly within research on ubiquitous computing and performative interactions (Spence et al., 2013). For example, when using performance as a frame to examine the use of large touch displays, researchers have demonstrated, among other things, how users orient themselves to positions in accordance with their roles in the performances (Kuikkaniemi et al., 2013).

Thus far, I have not articulated what a performance is. In my efforts to define the term for this thesis, I agree with Spence et al. (2013) that performances also take place outside the theater and other staged settings. This is clear when one considers the performative turn, in which social occasions are also seen as performances (Schechner, 2013). Although Spence et al. (2013, 99) claimed that Goffman (1978) took a more theatrical approach to performances, with the separation of front-stage and backstage, this is not the case. Rather, Schechner (2013)'s reading of Goffman (1978, 15–16) suggests that performance is a social interaction in which a participant aims to influence other participants. That is to say, the performer aims to give particular impressions to the spectators. With this framework, all social interactions in all situations are seen as a performance. For example, in hybrid interaction, a spectator may perform as a spectator and, therefore, take on tasks assumed fitting for a spectator, such as taking notes.

Such a broad view of performances seems problematic since it does not restrict the performance to important actions. I have studied certain planned events at which participants gathered with clear role expectations as either performers or spectators (as reviewed in Section 2.2). However, I emphasized the nature of the event, which gives the participants a clear social frame and context for how to behave. The social context also frames how the performance is supposed to be engaged in (Getz and Page, 2016). Therefore, I aim to focus on performances in which socio-spatial positions such as the front-stage exist (e.g., Reeves, 2011). Furthermore, these performances have the critical characteristic that they can change. Even when the performance may be scripted beforehand, acting out the performance can change its execution. This means that the performances are live (Meyer-Dinkgräfe, 2015; Schechner, 2013; Auslander, 2012).

I acknowledge that the focus on this type of performances means that only a small subset of as-performances is studied. Even though these roles take a step toward theoretical performances, reflecting the terms created by Spence et al. (2013, 99), it is important to note that the performers are not acting. Rather, they are non-acting – not engaged in impersonating someone else – and the audience sees them via a particular role within the event (Kirby, 1987). Therefore, it is appropriate to consider the event as a performance and, on account of the interesting role of the performers in maintaining the performance, focus on their actions. In Section 5.3, I illustrate how performers do so.

However, understanding performers' roles in such a way highlights their power. Most significantly, in the area of performance studies, Gonquergood (1989, 84) asked, "How does performance reproduce, legitimate, uphold, or challenge, critique, and subvert ideology?" This linked the performances to the establishment of power rather directly and called to mind critical studies aimed at demonstrating how performances (both as-performances and is-performances) can recreate gender and sexuality (cf. Reinelt and Roach, 1992, 311-316) and cultural positions (cf. Conquergood, 1992). The conceptualizations have also advanced other fields. In education scholarship – which is the context for many of the instances I have studied – Pineau (1994) argued that power has been reflected upon well in the critical pedagogy literature. She promoted a performance-centered approach to education because this, according to her, balances the roles of teachers and students to some degree. More significantly, she used the existing literature to present, on one hand, the relationship between power and education, and on the other hand, the relationship between performances are related to power and its use.

#### 5.3 Findings

We answered Research Question 2 with two papers (III and V). In Paper III, we examined the utilization of the digital sphere during events and showed that (i) the systems were adapted to support performers' needs and were included in the performance through hiding and showing blocks, (ii) active work was conducted to bridge the digital sphere and physical sphere, (iii) various performers could have larger or smaller roles in the overall direction, and (iv) the digital sphere supported particular modes of interaction. In Paper V, we examined (v) how performers both proactively and reactively manage violations of the social rules.

Our first findings were focused on the practices of active management. Firstly, we observed that the digital sphere was used as an extension to the performance. The existence of an extended performance required that the performers modify the digital sphere to be part of the performance in the physical sphere. The first step in this process was to change the content in the digital sphere to constantly support the activities in the physical sphere. For example, the Presemo blocks were made visible or hidden such that each presenter had a personal block for his or her questions.

The second step was *integration work*, referring to what the performers did to bridge the gap between the physical sphere and the digital sphere. As in articulation work – with the focus on outlining goals and processes in group work (Schmidt and Bannon, 1992; Strauss, 1985) – integration work in the hybrid interactions refers to meta-work that the performer must do to make the performances in both spheres successful. For example, the performers can raise the audience's awareness of the digital stage and encourage participation through it, and they can take the audience's contributions on board as part of the onstage performance. The interview detailed in Paper III indicate that the audience did follow how the performers interacted with the content in the digital sphere (e.g., the performers highlighted the audience contributions that they were currently discussing). Even more importantly, the performers also verbally made observations that they attributed to the digital sphere, explaining this as an approach to making the digital sphere a worthwhile channel for participants.

These two observations already respond to Research Question 2's core idea. Hybrid space can be actively managed so as to ensure that it supports the performance as in points i and ii above. However, Paper III makes two additional contributions related to this research question, addressing points iii and iv.

The third contribution to answering this research question is a fleshed-out typology of the performers. Although this typology was more extensively analyzed by Kuikkaniemi (2017), we used the simplified categorization from Paper III to answer Research Question 2. The performers can be distinguished by their socio-spatial location (onstage or offstage) as well as by their ability to influence the overall management of the event (see Table 5.1). The existence of performers – both on the stage and off the stage – who can manage the execution of the performance in both spheres indicates that these hybrid spaces can indeed be directed to support the performances.

The fourth contribution of this paper is related to the ability to choose the mediated system's formats to support the aims of the performances. This continues the line of thought related to audience response systems (Beatty et al., 2005, 2006) and shows how the systems can support the versatility of various aims. In Paper III, we identified seven social functions that hybrid space can have at events. For example, audience activation was shown to use closed-ended questions that the performers created (often beforehand): the responses were often used as an input in the physical-sphere performance. This is rather different from audience engagement, which was open-ended and, accordingly, allowed more elaborate thinking by the audience. Furthermore, we observed how these individual functions can be used to direct the digital sphere toward the performers' goals by showing and hiding blocks in a particular order. This created *episodes* of participation in line with the particular functions used. Therefore, it is clear that in these performance situations, the hybrid space is under performers' control and power – which is also the assumption for that social context. We will elaborate on this observation further in Chapter 6 on the basis of Paper IV. All four findings presented in Paper III indicate that the hybrid space can be

|                       | Onstage                               | Offstage                             |  |
|-----------------------|---------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|
| Managing the perfor-  | The <i>chairperson</i> is onstage and | The <i>orchestrator</i> manages      |  |
| mance                 | allowed to control the overall        | and coordinates the flow of          |  |
|                       | performance. Especially for           | the performance but is off-          |  |
|                       | panels, these people often are        | stage, in front-of-stage position    |  |
|                       | the chairs, but this role could       | (Kuikkaniemi, 2017). These           |  |
|                       | also be held by a teacher in a        | people not only manage the           |  |
|                       | classroom.                            | Presemo system but have a            |  |
|                       |                                       | more holistic role in the event      |  |
|                       |                                       | and its functions.                   |  |
| Not managing the per- | The $host$ is onstage to con-         | The <i>moderator</i> is offstage and |  |
| formance              | duct integration work and en-         | mostly manages the content (re-      |  |
|                       | sure that Presemo is part of          | moves irrelevant content, sug-       |  |
|                       | the performance and not left as       | gests highlights to other per-       |  |
|                       | a separate channel. Often the         | formers, etc.) or the Presemo        |  |
|                       | host, for instance, reads ques-       | system (shows or hides blocks).      |  |
|                       | tions to other performers.            | Moderators do not, however,          |  |
|                       |                                       | add new content.                     |  |

Table 5.1: Roles of performers in the hybrid space for events, with special terms to identify various types of roles (details are presented in Paper III).

directed and that active management can be utilized to ensure that it follows performers' ideas.

Finally, we investigated management practices, as investigated in Paper V. In this work, we also studied what happens when the social rules – in this case, social norms – are broken and how the performers attempt to reestablish the social norms. We observed how verbal guidelines and physical presence were used together to guide spectators in using the digital sphere. The directing also took place through performers' choices of when and how the digital sphere was used, even as the performers' overall presence was, as noted in the paper, limited. Furthermore, we drew distinctions between proactive and reactive directing and between public and private directing. Proactive norm management often took place before the digital sphere was even brought into use, and it emphasized articulating how participants ought to behave in the digital sphere. Reactive norm management took place after the rules were broken and directed the participants back towards the intended uses. Reactive norm management had both public and private forms: the public form's norm management was aimed at all spectators, while the private form focused only on particular individuals in the audience. However, the private norm management was also public, in that all spectators could see the performers' action, even when those actions stressed a particular individual. In Paper V we focused on the management of norms, with regard to their relationship to the social rules that were the focus of the previous chapter. However, the work also demonstrated various other management practices. For example, the performers conducted integration work by articulating how the digital sphere was used and how it related to the physical performance. Therefore, the work reestablished the direction taken during the performative hybrid interaction.

#### 5.4 Discussion

I have aimed to show that active directing of both the digital and the physical sphere is possible for events during performative hybrid interaction. The concept of the extended sphere distinguishes the hybrid space examined here from various other forms of hybrid spaces. For example, some forms of backchannels (e.g., Yardi, 2006) existed in a hybrid space – with digital and physical spheres at the same time – but with no aim to integrate these spheres with each other. The two spheres coexisted, but the performers did not use the digital sphere as an extension of the physical sphere, so the digital sphere was not an extended performance. Although these hybrid spaces can have various beneficial outcomes, such as enhanced peer learning (Yardi, 2006), they lack the potential for conducting performances by adapting the system to performer needs. In these hybrid spaces, the onstage activities are not live in relation to the digital sphere; the performance hence cannot adapt to actions in the digital sphere.

Extended performance depends on the ability to conduct integration work. In the research presented in papers III and V, we observed integration work taking place in both the digital and the physical sphere. It took place before and during the digital episodes, in the form of verbal remarks, digital actions, and nonverbal actions (such as glances). We observed how, via actions of these types, the performers acted in the digital sphere. Furthermore, the integration work itself showed that the performance was live in relation to the digital sphere.

Once we understood the importance of performers' integration work in the hybrid spaces, we sought to understand how this work could be further supported. This might include enhancing the digital interaction between the onstage performers and spectators by such means as allowing performers to indicate when audience comments have been read. This might make the importance of the digital sphere more prominent to the audience. In addition, both automated content classification and human computing can support this integration work. For example, a burst of content could be automatically sorted into buckets, perhaps via the topic modeling process (e.g., Blei, 2012). This would help the onstage performers to summarize the content and to address its core aspects. Furthermore, audience input regarding the content (human computation), such as votes or reposts, could be utilized to indicate the relevant content more prominently. Computational tools can be further applied also to bridge the digital and physical spheres – for instance, by automatically reacting to the verbal remarks made (via speech-to-text) and by highlighting the digital content in relation to the physical activities (Andolina et al., 2015). Naturally, all forms of automated tools must adhere to the human performer's goals and rhythms.

The second observation we addressed in this chapter is that, no matter what type of proactive work is done, the performances – by their very nature – can create unexpected turns. These can be both positive and negative; for example, a new direction could be taken by a panel, thus requiring unplanned activities to support the new direction in the digital sphere. Likewise, spectators may not always utilize the digital sphere as intended, which could, in an extreme case, lead to behavior that breaks the social rules. Flexibility in both performances is needed to facilitate handling of these types of unintended items.

We speculate that flexible scripts are needed to allow the performers to plan alternative types of episodes and to adapt those episodes in line with the performance. This would help the performers react to any alternative (off-script) performances and to, even more importantly, plan for these types of what-if scenarios.

My final remark is more general and considers the hybrid space in general. We focused on a particular form of hybrid space where participants can be separated into groups: onstage and offstage performers and spectators, who together made up the performative hybrid interaction. These two groups had different roles in the performance itself, particularly with regard to the ability to direct the performance. However, I argue that various social configurations are possible in the hybrid space. For example, the group support systems were aimed at creating places where everyone was an equal participant (e.g., Nunamaker et al., 1996), and backchannels were aimed at producing a communication channel in which the performers were not participating (e.g., Yardi, 2006). For me, the only doubt exists in those hybrid spaces that some participants are not a part of. As boyd (2009) expounds on in connection with her personal experience, an exclusion from the hybrid space – though present at the event where the hybrid space is set up – can make it challenging to interpret the physical sphere reactions. In her case, the spectators are laughing at jokes in the digital sphere and this is not visible to her, the presenter, and make it a challenging position to perform. Even in the instances we studied, we found reaction types similar to those identified by boyd, such as laughing together (see Paper V), but the outcomes were not similar to those that boyd (2009) documented. The performers could interpret why such reactions took place and determine how to mitigate them appropriately. Therefore, hybrid interaction should always be designed to be inclusive.

5 Directing hybrid interaction

## Chapter 6

## Evaluating the hybrid interaction

Addressing the social rules (Research Question 1) and the opportunities to direct the social interaction (Research Question 2) led to identifying a need to consider how to evaluate the success of the hybrid interaction for purposes of improving tools for it in the future.

With Finding 3, I suggest that evaluation of hybrid interaction as participation is related to general questions of values and matters of political science, which can help us to reflect on the interaction further. The goals for hybrid interaction tools are often to enhance communication and participation (e.g., Du et al., 2009; Harry et al., 2012; Yardi, 2006), so fields that examine participation – such as political science – can inform about the success of such events. The evidence related to Research Question 3 is presented in Paper IV, wherein Habermas's framework is applied to evaluate the success of hybrid interaction.

### 6.1 Related Work

Sadly, the previous work addressed in Chapter 2 has not been theory-driven but, rather, focused on system-building (e.g., Harry et al., 2012, 2009) or described a new phenomenon of hybrid interaction (e.g., Du et al., 2009; Yardi, 2006). Because of this lack of more theory-oriented work (common within technology research, as observed in Chapter 1), academics have not fully articulated the underlying normative frameworks – as a part of many social science theories – that are involved with these systems. Extrapolating from what authors highlight in their findings, we can argue these systems to emerge from the need to promote active participation (e.g., Du et al., 2009; Harry et al., 2012; Yardi, 2006). However, the framing leaves open the type of participation sought with these systems. For example, Kelty et al. (2015) claimed that participation within an information system has seven dimensions, among them the amount of learning expected and the opportunity to voluntarily leave the system. More details on the type of participation, even a theory of participation, should be framed to make this argument stronger.

These aims have been much better articulated within group support systems literature, for which the particular needs of the group have been taken into account as a baseline for development of the systems (e.g., DeSanctis and Gallupe, 1987). In his review, Fjermestad (2004) identified outcome factors (and, therefore, evaluation criteria), such as reaching of consensus, efficiency measurements, effectiveness measurements, satisfaction measurements, and usability measurements related to these systems. He then continues to review findings from both face-to-face and computer-mediated (through a group support system) group work, using these measurements. As a result, his summary of the literature claimed that 28.2% showed computer-mediated to be better than face-to-face, 30.5% showed that face-to-face communication was better than computer-mediated, and 41.4% of observed measurements showed no difference between the systems. Based on these findings, he

claimed the benefits of group support systems lay in improved structures of the discussion and gains in productivity.

### 6.2 Theoretical Background

My aim with this chapter is to examine how participation should be considered. Discussing the quality of participation and decision-making is always normative. Therefore, there is no single correct approach, though several distinct models exist for how to make decisions, each of which is considered acceptable by those involved in the decision-making (for one review, see Held, 2006). Similar tools and environments can support several approaches as well, as shown in Dahlberg (2011)'s work on online tools and democracy, in which four separate approaches were identified in all:

- The liberal-individualist approach emphasizes the majority in decision-making and, thereby, an expression of opinions and finally the aggregation of those opinions.
- The deliberative approach is aimed at supporting rational and reasoned discussion in inclusive spaces.
- The counter-publics approach is intended to use the digital tools to include those voices or individuals excluded from the mainstream discussion.
- The autonomous Marxist approach emphasizes the role of the commons, a new system of policymaking that challenges liberal politics.

Choosing to apply just one of these is indeed a normative question, for it includes values. These questions pertaining to values are at the core of the third wave of human-computer interaction, where the focus shifts away from information processing (the second wave) and ergonomics (the first wave) and towards the humans and their values (Harrison et al., 2007; Bødker, 2006). Furthermore, classic literature in science and technology studies has firmly established how technical artifacts – such as hybrid interaction tools – can encode values in them. Winner (1985) examined how technology is shaped by its designers such that it articulates politics and designers' values. A famous example is the Long Island bridges (also known as Winner's bridges) that are claimed to be so low that a public-transportation bus cannot drive under them, thus restricting access to some parts of the city to highincome citizens only. Nissenbaum (2005) has provided a more recent contribution to classic literature about values and technologies. Claiming that technologies promote the values of the surrounding society, as those values are encoded in the development of technology, she sought to identify how various values can be embodied in the technical system. These two works addressed the designing and implementing of technical systems, which indeed has been the focus in value-sensitive approaches in design (Borning and Muller, 2012; Sellen et al., 2009; Friedman, 1996). Hence, it might seem unclear why I have addressed values and technical designs in such great detail within this work. Any evaluation is not neutral but a "political creature," because power is used to establish the evaluation criteria (Weiss, 1993). Therefore, our choice of evaluation framework within human-computer interaction too is influenced by political and power questions.

For this chapter (and Paper IV), I applied Habermas (1989)'s approach, which is focused on an ideal communication space where participants engage in deliberation. In summation, the core values of an ideal communication space are considered to be these (Dahlberg, 2001; Dryzek, 2002; Habermas, 1989; Held, 2006):

- civil and respectful discussion that shows respect towards other participants and their claims
- rational argumentation wherein claims are backed by factual or personal-experiencebased argumentation

Given the importance of values, as discussed above, I must justify why this particular framework was used for evaluation. The first – and driving – motivation for my choice was to follow previous research within the field of political science: over the past 25 years, a deliberative turn has taken place, and many approaches have focused on supporting the deliberative interaction of citizen engagement (e.g., Smith, 2009). Therefore, there is a body of well-established literature behind applying these approaches and documented cases. Within human-computer interaction, this framework has also been used to study political and civic behavior further. Specifically, the framework has been used to motivate the design of novel systems for policymaking (e.g., Disalvo, 2009; Klein, 2012; Kriplean et al., 2012; Le Dantec, 2012; Semaan et al., 2015) and frame observations (e.g., Asad and Le Dantec, 2015; Semaan et al., 2014). Secondly, although a call to use Habermas's framework to study computer-supported group work has been made Ngwenyama and Lyytinen (1997), to my knowledge there has not been any previous work on those topics outside political and civic contexts. Finally, although the empirical evidence is mixed, there are positive outcomes related to deliberation. In their reviews, scholars such as Carpini et al. (2004), Ryfe (2005), and Mutz (2008) have argued that deliberative approaches support. for instance, the inclusion of minority opinions and that they render the decision-making more accountable. These positive outcomes are a worthy goal of interaction. Therefore, the empirical work presented here focuses on work with a Habermasian foundation.

## 6.3 Findings

Using the Habermasian framework described in Paper IV, we identified the opportunities and challenges of the digital-sphere interaction as compared with traditional non-mediated face-to-face interaction in terms of the opportunities to support the creation of an ideal communication space. In this work, three empirical observations were made:

- The digital sphere is better suited to supporting participation, since more of the spectators are active and the distribution of participation among the spectators is more balanced.
- The two methods were equally supportive in demonstrating that respect was held for other participants, even though the methods employed were different.
- The activity in the digital sphere was less rationally backed than that in the nonmediated space, thereby suggesting that the affordances of the mediated communication limited the quality of argumentation.

Therefore, one can argue that the findings presented in the paper were inconclusive.

However, the emphasis in Research Question 3 is not on the results but rather on the process: how they were studied. The significant contribution of Paper IV is to apply the Habermasian framework, which was originally used to describe (the ideal state of) political and civic discourse of large populations with small-group interaction that is not directed at civic concerns. The paper makes two cases for utilizing the normative framework within human–computer interaction: Firstly, it can support empirical investigations of a phenomenon, for purposes of designing systems by using a normative framework.

|                     | Inclusive partici-<br>pation | Civil discussion     | Rational argumen-<br>tation |
|---------------------|------------------------------|----------------------|-----------------------------|
| Participants' expe- |                              | Questionnaire        | Questionnaire               |
| rience              |                              | (Black et al., 2011) | (Black et al., 2011)        |
| Researchers' obser- | Count of speech              | Qualitative obser-   | Content classifi-           |
| vations             | turns (e.g., Al-             | vations              | cation (Graham,             |
|                     | brecht, $2006;$              |                      | 2008, 2012; Steen-          |
|                     | Graham and                   |                      | bergen et al.,              |
|                     | Wright, $2014$ )             |                      | 2003)                       |

Table 6.1: The Habermasian evaluation framework used for Paper IV.

The main benefit of normative frameworks is that *empirical research can apply the methods related to the relevant framework*. In the case of the Habermasian stance, various approaches – including surveys, interviews, and observations (Black et al., 2011) – have been proposed for measurements. For Paper IV, a full framework of the Habermasian approach was used to triangulate the participation further, as shown in Table 6.1. The triangulation was used to examine three dimensions of participation and included both researchers' observations and participants' experience. As shown above, the application was successful. We could then compare between groups with digital and face-to-face interaction and also observe how both methods of communication support the creation of an ideal communication space. Furthermore, established methods described in the literature can be used to support the various operationalizations In addition, the normative framework guides the focus of the research and simultaneously aids in identifying which elements should not be focused on.

The primary benefit of constructive research emerges from the *design challenges un*veiled through the application of the framework. In the case of Paper IV, we identified the challenges related to showing respect to other participants and supported the claims with argumentation. We thus proposed that a further mechanism could be used to show respect for other participants, one similar to the reactions used on Facebook. However, their meanings could be articulated via the value of the framework itself – for example, via reactions such as "I appreciate you sharing this point of view." The second benefit for constructive research emerges from the existing design explorations and design work conducted within this framework. Although the context may be different, it could also yield insights into how to address problems in the creation of new information systems. Accordingly, designers can apply solutions that have already been examined and hence focus in their design work on the approaches that are most critical for the specific service at hand.

Lastly, the work in the field of human-computer interaction can inform the work of Habermasian theory and evaluation also. For example, although the participants were collocated, we did not focus on their physical presence, which was observed to be significant in Paper V. Rather, guided by the research framework, we examined primarily the content of the contributions to identify how well the ideal communication space was represented in each of the contributions. Informed by research in the computer-supported collaborative work and computer-mediated communication domains, one can revise the Habermasian framework to address various elements of nonverbal communication as well.

#### 6.4 Discussion

I hope I have demonstrated the benefits of using normative value frameworks to evaluate hybrid interaction by choosing the Habermasian framework as a guide for the research. In

this capacity, the Habermasian framework provides a grounding to prior literature, which aids in both establishing the research aims and formulating the research methodology. The state of the overall body of scholarship on performance-oriented hybrid spaces (reviewed in Chapter 2) suggests that shared objectives, such as clear articulation of the values in these systems, may significantly support research efforts.

However, the work on Habermasian values begs for this question: why was this particular value system used? In Section 6.2, I articulated our rationales for using the Habermasian value system as the basis for an evaluation. In Chapter 5, I established that hybrid interactions taking place in performances are directed, or even led, by the performers. The performance is conducted not only by using integration work but also by choosing the blocks and interaction modes to be used. Although these blocks can be appropriated in various ways (e.g., Harry et al., 2009), the indications of correct use and their ability to establish social rules (see Chapter 4) make the performers powerful. They choose the way in which people interact and influence what is discussed and what is not discussed (cf. the third face of power; see Lukes, 2005). Accordingly, returning to the topic of values in technical systems (Winner, 1985; Nissenbaum, 2005), we observed the value decisions relative to performers' (and system developers') ideas about how the system ought to be used.

However, one should be careful when deciding which normative framework "should" be used. Firstly, criticism of the value system choice is valid for any normative framework, as shown with the brief elaboration focused on participation informed by the field of political science. There are always several normative frameworks in the social sciences that could be used for a particular phenomenon, as indicated by the work of Dahlberg (2011). Each of them carries particular values that it promotes, since they are not neutral. Secondly, we ought to consider whether such a normative framework should be imposed on the spectators. For example, our decision to apply the Habermasian framework was not discussed with the participants. Since I was the teacher organizing the class where this was studied, the choice reflected my values related to "good" classroom participation. Another option, which many may argue is more sustainable, would be to seek to identify and respect the normative beliefs and values of all stakeholders, following the guidelines of a value-sensitive design (Borning and Muller, 2012; Sellen et al., 2009; Friedman, 1996). This indeed would decrease the risk of imposing values on spectators (i.e., using the technical artifact as a vehicle for imposing values). It might, however, be somewhat unnatural, since the principal aim with these tools ought to be to support the performers' activities in the hybrid space and aid in extending the performance. Furthermore, the process of stakeholder interviews before the system is used, particularly in event contexts, may be troublesome. Therefore, instead, researchers using a normative framework as an evaluation metric should aim to validate not only the participants' experience with the phenomena but also participants' standing on the various normative stances. This allows the researchers not merely to consider whether the values they had hoped to promote via the intervention were ultimately actualized but also to examine whether the stakeholders agreed with the researchers' goals. Furthermore, the assumed values and related normative frameworks must be outlined clearly in the work to make them explicit to the readers, something that those studying hybrid space do not currently do (see Section 6.1).

6 Evaluating the hybrid interaction

# Chapter 7

## Conclusions

With this work I have engaged with the broad topic of performative hybrid interaction. In the introduction, through analysis of prior work, I established this novel concept. The concept extended the idea of collocated computer-mediated communication (hybrid space or hybrid media consumption) to encompass consideration of how digital and physical logic shape each other in this interaction space (hybrid media system). To further engage with this concept, I asked three questions:

Research Question 1) Do social rules differ between the digital and physical sphere at a planned event?

*Research Question* 2) What roles do performers have, and what actions are used to establish and maintain these roles?

*Research Question* 3) Does performative hybrid interaction support normative positions more strongly than face-to-face interaction?

With chapters 4, 5, and 6, I answered each of these questions in turn. Before asking what implications the answers have for practices and research, I recap the findings.

Finding 1) I observed the potential of the differences in social rules between the digital and physical spheres. This was seen in interviews with teachers and the conceptualization of norm violations (see Paper V). Papers V and III demonstrate that these spheres are not separate. They become integrated (or hybrid). The hybrid nature was evidenced through norm violation spillovers; norm violations travel across the spheres. These also show how the differing of social rules created challenges to maintaining the performance. Teachers needed to maintain the social rules not only in the physical classroom but also in the digital sphere – which seemed to have different social rules for pupils than their classroom interactions did. Thus the findings highlight challenges of creating a performative hybrid environment, connected largely to differences in the social rules, such as norms, between these spheres.

Finding 2) In total, four distinct roles for performers were seen in the project: performers work both onstage and offstage and either have or do not have an opportunity to influence the flow of the planned event. I made a strong case for enhancing the active performer role (see Paper III). I considered the digital space as an extension of performance that is directed and managed. This means that performers shape the digital sphere to suit the particular aims of the performance. For example, they choose the structure of digital interaction and formulate the titles for the interactive blocks. Furthermore, the performers guide and acknowledge contributions made in the digital sphere and react to the same. These observations reflect how integration work was actively done to ensure that both the digital and the physical performance aspects were involved.

*Finding* 3) In relation to evaluation, I made a case for applying normative theories for participation to evaluate hybrid interaction. This approach would force authors to lay out their assumptions about the benefits of the technology in a clear manner. Furthermore,

normative theories have been widely applied in fields such as political science, which therefore provide background literature and methods that may be of use for conducting the study. For example, in the work reported on in Paper IV we used existing survey items, content classification schemata, and measurement tools to ask how present the ideas of a public sphere are in hybrid interaction. Furthermore, having acknowledged that the theories are normative, we highlight the importance of values within system development and use.

Now that each of the main findings has been discussed in detail, I will present conclusions on these aspects. I will first address the implications of this work that I have identified for performative hybrid interaction. I will discuss how practitioners and system designers can benefit from this research (in Section 7.1). Also, I will present some indicators related to potentially fruitful research areas not covered in this work (in Section 7.2). After this, I will discuss the role of social theories in supporting research on performative hybrid interaction (in Section 7.3), before summarizing the limitations of this work and offering concluding remarks.

## 7.1 Implications for Performative Hybrid Interactions

What do these findings tell us about the use of performative hybrid interaction or hybrid interinteraction in general? The findings reflect the complexity of performative hybrid interaction and address it in a manner not represented in the existing body of literature. The performer has a significant role in making the mediated communication meaningful (Finding 2) and guiding social rules, norms, and even values (Findings 1 and 3). Furthermore, the performers conduct work beyond just integration; the aspects of norm management (Findings 1 and 2) demonstrate that additional work is required to maintain the hybrid interaction in planned events.

Performers' work takes place both before and during the event. Before the event, planning work for performative hybrid interaction is conducted. This planning work includes tasks such as

- choosing the content for interactive blocks (e.g., titles, poll options, and the format for the interaction),
- scripting the event and planning the role of participation interaction, and
- considering the overall time spent on the activities.

During the event, efforts are made to bridge the digital and physical sphere, which we called integration. Integration can be supported partly via the digital tools, through means such as

- highlighting content instead of pointing it out,
- changing interactive blocks' titles to show audience members how they should participate, and
- hiding and showing interactive blocks.

However, the research highlighted that the physical sphere is used to conduct integration work, with

- verbal remarks,
- glancing and pointing out the public displays representing the digital sphere, and

#### 7.2 Avenues for Future Research

• even moving in the space.

Overall, we conclude that these observations are not exhaustive. It is easy to imagine items not listed above for each of these lists. The observations show that more support is needed for the performers' practices for integration work.

Regrettably, today's technical tools for performative hybrid interaction – including the one we studied specifically (Presemo) and also commercial tools such as Sli.do (http://www.sli.do/) – do not provide guidance through the complex tasks of managing and performing in hybrid interaction environments. Therefore, even when the technology is already available and can enter application in easy-to-use online forms,<sup>1</sup> known practices for bringing this technology into use successfully do not yet exist. In the worst case, these technologies are brought to an event and into use but become separated from the event activities and, in consequence, do not add to the event's value or may even lessen it.

The work described in Paper III revealed that, along with adding value to the event, the integration seems to increase the value performative hybrid interaction has to the audience. Audience members say that they value the highlights the performers give. Peer interaction has been found to be beneficial in education (e.g., Biggs, 2011). Therefore, during successful performative hybrid interaction, the performers, audience, and performance are in a symbiotic relationship (Jacucci et al., 2014) wherein reciprocity of actions and independent agency exist. Proceeding from the work presented in this thesis, I propose the following:

- Before the event, the performers should consider the *aims for the use*, to ensure that the utilization of the system will be meaningful and to take into account any *values* that the system could manifest and configure the system to support them. To aid in this planning, tools such as *scripts* can be developed to offer support.
- During the event, the performers should aim to bring the audience-generated content into the performance. These actions can take the form of mediated interaction or direct interaction with the audience. The degree of action can range from mild (e.g., glances) to explicit (e.g., verbatim reference).
- It is vital to ensure that the system is aligned with the goals of the performance, in order to add value to it and, simultaneously, for the audience.

These practices can be further supported by the system design. However, additional research is required if we are to understand the complex relationships among the system, the performers, the performance, and the audience. In the next section, I will address those areas for exploration that I feel could contribute most prominently to the development of further systems that better support performative hybrid interaction.

## 7.2 Avenues for Future Research

The future research for performative hybrid interaction can focus on how to further support practitioners' performance in hybrid spaces. The thesis project points to three areas that merit further inquiry.

Firstly, the tools should further *support the planning stages*. Planning can take the form of a script in which the individual episodes of the performance and the role of physical and digital activities for those episodes are presented. Kuikkaniemi (2017) suggested a state-control matrix for Presemo, from which the activity for role-specific screens can be

 $<sup>^1</sup>$  For example, at the 2017 ACM CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, Sli.do was used in keynote speeches, panel discussions, and town hall meetings.

coordinated (see Figure 3.1c for an idea of what these could look like). However, this interface does not account for aspects such as timings for the episodes or nondigital activities. It is my belief that the performative hybrid interaction would benefit from planning support since that might further encourage integration of digital and physical stages. Many of the possible implementations were discussed in Section 7.1 as considerations for performers, but they could also be taken up as tasks to be supported with the help of design. How could the design aid in discussion of the aims and values of use, development of a script, and consideration of the time spend in various activities?

Secondly, further steps should be taken with regard to *testing and sharing various forms* of scripts. For these purposes, predictive models accounting for social, cultural, contextual, and technological factors and usage practices are a clear open research area for the future. This would help performers to plan their hybrid interactions in a more efficient manner. For example, this exploratory work has not been directed to understanding issues such as

- the effects of the public screen being used (Finding 2),
- the effects of good or poor integration work (Finding 2),
- the impact of the title and questions on audience participation (Finding 2),
- the impact of social factors such as sense of community or hierarchy on audience participation (Finding 1), or
- any interaction between these factors.

If these questions could be addressed in greater detail, this might afford designing for an optimal participation rate, via options for the possible combinations of public screen use, block configuration, and integration work (which are controlled by the performer), for a particular social context. This work would require extensive (quasi-)experimental study comparing various combinations of these settings.

However, any experimental research also requires a detailed conceptual development of the phenomenon, a third open research area. For example, how could the quality of integration work be measured? These questions clearly represent opportunities for development in this research field. My work shows only examples around these concepts, such as integration work, extended performance, and social rules. These concepts can be further *explained through more extensive taxonomies or measurement tools*. Furthermore, only by measuring these aspects can we take steps to *develop predictive models*. The work's contribution lies in the ability to reflect on these concepts through existing theories. Since I have not taken steps to further measure particular aspects and have steered clear of attempting to evaluate the performative hybrid interaction, since clearly established baselines for evaluation do not exist (Finding 3), plenty of room remains for further work. Researchers could, for example, present potential measurement tools connected with concepts presented in this thesis.

## 7.3 Performative Hybrid Interaction and Theories of Social Interaction

Beyond understanding the practices and improving the use and systems for performative interaction, in this thesis I have advocated also more theory-oriented research into hybrid interaction. The analysis has used concepts (see Table 1.2) such as *social rules* (Chapter 4), *norms* (Chapter 4), *performance and performing* (Chapter 5), *values* (Chapter 6), and *the models of democracy* (Chapter 6). Indeed, various perspectives can be used to guide the analysis of performative hybrid interaction. This focus on existing frameworks is in stark

#### 7.3 Performative Hybrid Interaction and Theories of Social Interaction 51

contrast to what was discussed in previous work (see Chapter 2), where social theories were not extensively used to conceptualize the research problem or to articulate the findings. I argue that the theories presented have already provided opportunities to further reflect on and discuss the performative hybrid interaction and its challenges. These social theories have provided a vocabulary to discuss the phenomena.

For me, the second benefit of being informed by social theories emerges in the opportunity to rediscover existing knowledge and even solutions to problems we were able to identify via our work. In Paper IV we have noted the lack of rational-claim-based discourse. The problem is not new and has already been addressed in several works (e.g., Kriplean et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2015a). This means that a design addressing this challenge could be motivated by these works and address the issues found in the hybrid interaction environment. These design ideas could be adapted to support performative hybrid interaction and solve the problem identified.

However, the application of theories should be bidirectional. The research on performative hybrid interaction can and should also be aimed at giving back to the social theories it applies. Our study of hybrid interaction using the deliberative framework (see Paper IV) demonstrated the inability of that framework to address various nonverbal actions. This is a clear issue, since our study of performers' interaction (see papers III and V) showed the significance of nonverbal interaction. Therefore, research into deliberation and the measurements used therein should similarly account for the collocated nature of the interaction and focus on glances, sighs, and other forms of nonverbal communication. In light of the recent findings related to differences in online deliberation that stem from media richness (Brinker et al., 2015), this observation may indeed be valuable. This shows that the hybrid interaction study setting not only should apply social theories but can be used as a particular lens or perspective for study of the phenomena or even as a case to validate these – in particular, if the system design has been based on recommendations rooted in a theory.

Though the research has focused on performative hybrid interaction wherein computermediated and face-to-face interaction coexist, the idea of communication taking place in multiple spheres can also be applied to support the analysis of other communication types. As hinted at in the discussion in Chapter 4, for example, multilayered communication via social media (e.g., Facebook Messenger, Slack, or email) can demonstrate challenges similar to those we discussed in relation to hybrid interaction. Similarly, the observations on normative theories and values (Finding 3) can guide the analysis of various forms of mediated communication as design decisions (and, therefore, value-presenting decisions) are made. Even the observations made about performances (Finding 2) can be used to propose alternative ways to organize multilayered communication in events where performance and audience-generated content play a central role. For example, the concepts of integration work and extended performance can inform how television hosts address live tweeting during television broadcasts; the host should reflect the audience participation during the broadcast but direct it in line with the narrative of the broadcast to help the audience benefit from it. The scope of the work possible is so extensive that I have not delved into it in this thesis. However, with earlier work, I sought to understand the multilayered nature of social communication (Karikoski and Nelimarkka, 2010; Nelimarkka and Karikoski, 2012). That work presented observations that the social networks computed from phone call logs, text message logs, and social-networking service logs are structurally different. Working with the ideas of social rules and communication channels (Finding 1), we could elaborate on these differences (e.g., do people have different rules or perceive different norms in each of these communication channels?) and also undertake to examine how the interfaces build and support these type of rules and communication channels.

Lastly, the three perspectives addressed in chapters 4, 5, and 6 are all related to social interaction and the structures of such interaction. However, these three perspectives have not been integrated into one explicit research or design framework. The goal with such a framework would be to position the three findings in relationship with each other and unravel their potential interaction. One perspective that might be of use for understanding all these findings is to elaborate on how they are linked to power relations within the hybrid performance. In the social sciences, power is understood through its various forms (e.g., Lukes, 2005; Dahl, 1957; Bachrach and Baratz, 1962). For instance, Lukes (2005) argued that power can be seen through three distinct forms: the direct, the indirect and, the invisible. Direct power refers to the ability to force someone to do something he or she would not otherwise do (Dahl, 1957), and indirect power refers to the ability to change decision-making processes (Bachrach and Baratz, 1962). The invisible use of power reflects the ability to cause subtle changes to the surrounding environment, changing opinions accordingly (Lukes, 2005). The framing of the situation as a performance (Finding 2) points to the performers' capabilities to use power in the hybrid interaction as being critical and, for me, makes the event a performance – the performer conceives of a certain framing of the event. My work suggests that this power is established by using a social mechanism (establishing rules, Finding 1: choosing what content is integrated, Finding 2: and suggesting contributions, Finding 2) as well as through the implementation of technical apparatus (choosing the form of interaction, Finding 2, and applying interface design that supports particular values, Finding 3). However, this relationship is not sufficient; integrated theory should aim towards conceptualizations such as the audience funnel (Michelis and Müller, 2011) or the spectator interface (Reeves, 2011). As integrated theories, these help researchers to conceptualize the phenomenon and benefit from advances in the various fields that have informed conceptualizations. Details of such theory development are left to research questions for future work.

### 7.4 Limitations

Any study of social computing is bounded by the cultural and other contextual factors embedded in the social situation wherein it is conducted. We aimed to address some of these challenges through our initial study used to answer Research Question 0 (see Section 3.8), but, naturally, one exploratory study cannot address all potentially influential cultural factors. Similarly, our within-subjects experimental methods approach (see Section 3.2) was intended to take these contextual factors into account but not extend their analysis. Other studies in which I have been involved – for instance, on political social media use (Tuokko et al., view) – indicate that there are differences in user behavior between platforms. Furthermore, the instances I have studied represent particular types of events, such as the educational situations or large events that allowed us to conduct research. These aspects, however, mostly limit the empirical findings reported in each paper, not the general conclusions one can draw. Since the thesis, research questions, and findings provide more conceptual contributions, I do not foresee major challenges due to research context becoming apparent.

The social and cultural factors, however, do have implications related to the design suggestions made throughout the articles and elaborated on in my work. These interventions were designed within a Finnish context, wherein, for example, hierarchies are rather low and trust in strangers is high (e.g., Castells and Himanen, 2002). The interventions emerged from this ethos and can be seen as reflecting Nordic participatory traditions. For example, the proposal to engage pupils in defining the norms (in Paper V) is clearly rooted in this cultural context and linked with the goal of giving agency to those who do not normally have it; this is also reflected in the Finnish school system itself. Furthermore,

#### 7.5 Concluding Remarks

each social situation is a complex assemblage of factors. For example, the work conducted around social norms (represented by Research Question 1 and Paper V) revealed how students' restlessness influenced the hybrid interaction. Therefore, caution is advised if these design implications are taken on board for consideration of the various social, cultural, and contextual factors of the situation.

Likewise, the Presemo system's design and usability may have contributed to the outcomes in our analysis. The experiences I and Kai Kuikkaniemi have had suggest that spectator interface uptake is fairly easy while the performer interfaces are more complex. To address this, tutoring in system use was given in all cases to performers to ensure that they felt comfortable with the system. While this could not eliminate the potential for impact of the artifact itself on the findings, it shows that efforts were undertaken to limit that impact. Also, the findings are focused on levels of aiming to generalize beyond the results surrounding the technology, which I argue makes the system design and usability a less limiting factor than the overall cultural context.

The second limitation of the study's findings emerges from the methodological strategies applied. Firstly, research work is always an interpretation of the data. The findings emerged from our reading of interviews, our observations made while we watched the video recordings, and our analysis of survey responses. In this thesis, I have given the findings – presented in each of the papers – an additional interpretation. This means that I have made selections throughout the thesis-writing process on where to direct focus. These selections were guided through existing literature and our emerging understanding of the phenomena. I have aimed to provide examples that offer rationale for our reasoning.

The final limitation is related to the exploratory nature of the research described in this thesis. With my colleagues, I set out to understand an emerging phenomenon. However, I do not make claims about any laws or another form of predictive models emerging from these cases. In the long term, such predictive models would be useful for understanding what type of integration work is most likely to succeed or what contextual factors cause spillover norm violations. I have not addressed critical questions about success in performative hybrid interaction. Paper IV leads in this direction by outlining the role of normative frameworks and discussing aspects such as values. However, even in that work, we did not engage in examination of causes for deliberation.

### 7.5 Concluding Remarks

This work has examined the social aspects of "same time, same place" interaction. To study them, I developed the concepts of *hybrid interaction* and *performative hybrid interaction* to discuss what takes place in "same time, same place" interaction. As with hybrid media space, the focus in consideration of hybrid interaction is on understanding how the various media channels are interwoven. The brief reflection presented on existing knowledge of performative hybrid interaction and various tools offered previously to support hybrid interaction, such as backchan.nl (Harry et al., 2009) and Fragmented Social Mirror (Bergstrom et al., 2011), represents the background for our identification of a set of open challenges for performative hybrid interaction.

Hybrid interaction can have two sets of *social rules*, such as norms. The social rules of computer-mediated sphere are different from those of face-to-face sphere. This can cause problems, such as norm spillovers, but can also support valued outcomes, such as self-expression. Hence, there is a clear challenge for practitioners of establishing the social rules such that they support the aim behind using the technology.

The "correct" social rules can be established in several ways when performative hybrid interaction tools are in use. To approach the establishment of these rules, I consider these situations to be events. As events, they have performers responsible for maintaining and performing within the event. The performers can integrate the computer-mediated content into the performance. They can use verbal remarks or glances to do this. Through its display, the system is also a tool for performance, since it allows, for example, for the hiding and showing of content or choosing the title of a block. The computer-mediated system becomes an *extended performance* that can, and should, support the main performance.

Given the significant role of the performers, we sought to understand how a system manifests values. The key contribution was to examine the performative hybrid interaction as participation. On this basis, we linked the system to political science and the study of democracy. We strove to understand the *normative values* of participation. The computermediated discussion, for example, seemed to support more inclusive participation.

Proceeding from these findings, we outlined potential topics for future research. At practical level, the performative hybrid interaction tools should support performances better. We have discussed the opportunity to focus on the scripting of performances. A script allows the performers to think about the interaction with the audience and tools for it prior to the event. Also, understanding of the various social phenomena could be further modeled. This would allow the research community to find the best practices, which could then be proposed for practitioners. This said, the work should engage with the normative theories and values further, because they help one understand what "better" and "best" as used above mean. Finally, the hybrid interaction context allows us to examine and extend the existing social theories. In addition, they have the ability to contribute to social research and foster more refined system design and evaluation.

# References

- Albrecht, S. (2006). Whose voice is heard in online deliberation?: A study of participation and representation in political debates on the internet. *Information, Community and Society*, 9(1):62–82.
- Andolina, S., Klouche, K., Cabral, D., Ruotsalo, T., and Jacucci, G. (2015). InspirationWall: Supporting Idea Generation Through Automatic Information Exploration. In Proceedings of the 2015 ACM SIGCHI Conference on Creativity and Cognition - C&C '15, pages 103–106, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Asad, M. and Le Dantec, C. a. (2015). Illegitimate Civic Participation. Proceedings of the 18th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing -CSCW '15, pages 1694–1703.
- Auslander, P. (2012). Digital liveness: a historico-philosophical perspective. paj: A journal of performance and art, 34(3):3–11.
- Bachrach, P. and Baratz, M. S. (1962). Two Faces of Power. American Political Science Review, 56(04):947–952.
- Bales, R. F. (1950). Interaction process analysis; a method for the study of small groups.
- Bannon, L., Benford, S., Bowers, J., and Heath, C. (2005). Hybrid design creates innovative museum experiences. *Communications of the ACM*, 48(3):62.
- Baumgart, D. and Pohl, A. (2011). Providing guidance on Backstage, a novel digital backchannel for large class teaching. *Education in a ....*
- Beatty, I. D., Gerace, W. J., and Dufresne, R. J. (2006). Designing Effective Questions for Classroom Response System Teaching. *American Journal of Physics*, 74(1):31–39.
- Beatty, I. D., Leonard, W. J., Gerace, W. J., and Dufresne, R. J. (2005). Question Driven Instruction: Teching Science (well) with an Audience Response System. In Banks, D. A., editor, Audience Response Systems in Higher Education: Applications and Cases, pages 96—115. Idea Group Inc., Hershey.
- Behnke, G., Labovitz, E. M., Bennett, J., Chase, C., Day, J., Lazar, C., and Mittleholtz, D. (1981). Coping with Classroom Distractions. *The Elementary School Journal*, 81(3):135– 155.
- Bentivegna, S. and Marchetti, R. (2015). Live tweeting a political debate: The case of the 'Italia bene comune. *European Journal of Communication*, 30(6):631–647.
- Bergstrom, T., Harris, A., and Karahalios, K. (2011). Encouraging initiative in the classroom with anonymous feedback. pages 627–642.

- Bergstrom, T. and Karahalios, K. (2007). Conversation Clock: Visualizing audio patterns in co-located groups. In *Proceedings of the Annual Hawaii International Conference on* System Sciences, pages 1–9.
- Biggs, J. B. (2011). Teaching for quality learning at university: What the student does. McGraw-Hill Education (UK).
- Black, L. W., Burkhalter, S., and Stromer-Galley, J. (2011). Measuring Group Deliberation. In Sourcebook of Political Communication research: Methods, Measures, and Analytical Techniques, pages 323–345.
- Blei, D. M. (2012). Probabilistic topic models. Communications of the ACM, 55(4):77.
- Bødker, S. (2006). When second wave HCI meets third wave challenges. In *Proceedings of* the 4th Nordic conference on Human-computer interaction: changing roles, pages 14–18.
- Borah, P. (2015). Emerging communication technology research: Theoretical and methodological variables in the last 16 years and future directions. *New Media & Society*, page 146144481562151.
- Borning, A. and Muller, M. (2012). Next steps for value sensitive design. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1125–1134. ACM.
- boyd, d. (2009). spectacle at web2. 0 expo... from my perspective.
- boyd, d. and Crawford, K. (2012). Critical Questions for Big Data. Information, Communication & Society, 15(5):662–679.
- Brinker, D. L., Gastil, J., and Richards, R. C. (2015). Inspiring and Informing Citizens Online: A Media Richness Analysis of Varied Civic Education Modalities. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 20(5):504–519.
- Brown, B., Reeves, S., and Sherwood, S. (2011). Into the wild. In Proceedings of the 2011 annual conference on Human factors in computing systems, page 1657, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Brown, B., Weilenmann, A., McMillan, D., and Lampinen, A. (2016). Five Provocations for Ethical HCI Research. In Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '16, pages 852–863, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Brown, R. (2000). Group processes: Dynamics within and between groups. Basil Blackwell, Oxford, United Kindom.
- Burns, T. R. and Flam, H. (1987). The shaping of social organization: Social rule system theory with applications. Sage Publications.
- Byrne, S., Katz, S. J., Lee, T., Linz, D., and McIlrath, M. (2013). Peers, Predators, and Porn: Predicting Parental Underestimation of Children's Risky Online Experiences. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, pages n/a–n/a.
- Caldwell, J. E. (2007). Clickers in the large classroom: Current research and best-practice tips. CBE Life Sciences Education, 6(1):9–20.
- Carpini, M. X. D., Cook, F. L., and Jacobs, L. R. (2004). Public Deliberation, Discursive Participation, and Citizen Engagement: A Review of the Empirical Literature. Annual Review of Political Science, 7(1):315–344.

- Castells, M. (1998). The information age: economy, society and culture. volume 1. the rise of the network society.
- Castells, M. and Himanen, P. (2002). The information society and the welfare state: The Finnish model. Number 250. Oxford University Press on Demand.
- Chadwick, A., Dennis, J. b., and Smith, A. P. (2016). Politics in the Age of Hybrid Media: Power, Systems, and Media Logics. The Routledge Companion to Social Media and Politics.
- Conquergood, D. (1992). Performance theory, Hmong shamans, and cultural politics, pages 41–64. University of Michigan Press: Ann Arbor.
- Crabtree, A. and Rodden, T. (2008). Hybrid ecologies: Understanding cooperative interaction in emerging physical-digital environments. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 12(7):481–493.
- Dahl, R. (1957). The Concept of Power. Behavioral Science, 2(3):201.
- Dahlberg, L. (2001). Computer-mediated communication and the public sphere: A critical analysis. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 4:615–633.
- Dahlberg, L. (2011). Re-constructing digital democracy: An outline of four 'positions'. New Media & Society, 13(6):855–872.
- Davis, S. M. (2007). Impact of anonymity of input in next-generation classroom networks. In Proceedings of the 8th iternational conference on Computer supported collaborative learning, pages 165–167, Morristown, NJ, USA. Association for Computational Linguistics.
- de Souza e Silva, A. (2006). From Cyber to Hybrid: Mobile Technologies as Interfaces of Hybrid Spaces. *Space and Culture*, 9(3):261–278.
- DeSanctis, G. and Gallupe, R. B. (1987). A Foundation for the Study of Group Decision Support Systems. *Management Science*, 33(5):589–609.
- Dirksmeier, P. and Helbrecht, I. (2008). Time, non-representational theory and the" performative turn"—towards a new methodology in qualitative social research. In Forum Qualitative Socialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research, volume 9.
- Disalvo, C. (2009). Design and the Construction of Publics. Design Issues, pages 48–63.
- Dix, A., Sheridan, J. G., Reeves, S., and Benford, S. (2006). Formalising Performative Interaction. In Interactive Systems. Design, Specification, and Verification, pages 15–25.
- Dourish, P. (2006). Re-Space-ing Place : "Place" and "Space" Ten Years On. Computing, pages 299–308.
- Dryzek, J. S. (2002). Deliberative Democracy and Beyond. Liberals, Critics, Contestations. Oxford University Press, New York.
- Du, H., Rosson, M. B., and Carroll, J. M. (2012a). Augmenting classroom participation through public digital backchannels. In *Proceedings of the 17th ACM international* conference on Supporting group work, page 155, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Du, H., Rosson, M. B., and Carroll, J. M. (2012b). Communication patterns for a classroom public digital backchannel. In *Proceedings of the 30th ACM international conference on Design of communication*, page 127, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.

- Du, H., Rosson, M. B., Carroll, J. M., and Ganoe, C. (2009). I felt like a contributing member of the class. In Proceedings of the ACM 2009 international conference on Supporting group work - GROUP '09, page 233, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Ehrlich, P. R. and Levin, S. A. (2005). The Evolution of Norms. *PLoS Biology*, 3(6):e194.
- Ellis, C. A., Gibbs, S. J., and Rein, G. (1991). Groupware: some issues and experiences. Communications of the ACM, 34(1):39–58.
- Feltwell, T., Wood, G., Long, K., Brooker, P., Schofield, T., Petridis, I., Barnett, J., Vines, J., and Lawson, S. (2017). "I've been manipulated!": Designing Second Screen Experiences for Critical Viewing of Reality TV. Proceedings of the 35th annual ACM conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '17, pages 2252–2263.
- Fischer, J., Porcheron, M., Lucero, A., Quigley, A., Scott, S., Ciolfi, L., Rooksby, J., and Memarovic, N. (2016). Collocated interaction: New challenges in'same time, same place'research. In Proceedings of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing Companion, pages 465–472. ACM.
- Fjermestad, J. (2004). An analysis of communication mode in group support systems research. Decision Support Systems, 37(2):239–263.
- Friedman, B. (1996). Value-sensitive design. interactions, 3(6):16–23.
- Getz, D. and Page, S. J. (2016). Event studies: Theory, research and policy for planned events. Routledge.
- Goffman, E. (1978). The presentation of self in everyday life. Harmondsworth.
- Gonquergood, D. (1989). Poetics, play, process, and power: The performative turn in anthropology. *Text and Performance Quarterly*, 9(1):82–88.
- Graham, T. (2008). Needles in a haystack: a new approach for identifying and assessing political talk in non-political discussion forums. *Javnost*, 15(2):17—-36.
- Graham, T. (2012). Beyond "Political" Communicative Spaces: Talking Politics on the Wife Swap Discussion Forum. Journal of Information Technology & Politics, 9(1):31– 45.
- Graham, T. and Wright, S. (2014). Discursive Equality and Everyday Talk Online: The Impact of "Superparticipants". Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication, 19(3):625–642.
- Green, D. P. and Gerber, A. S. (2003). The Underprovision of Experiments in Political Science. The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 589(1):94– 112.
- Grudin, J. (1994a). Computer-supported cooperative work: history and focus. *Computer*, 27(5):19–26.
- Grudin, J. (1994b). Groupware and social dynamics: eight challenges for developers. Communications of the ACM, 37(1):92–105.
- Habermas, J. (1989). The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere. Polity Press.
- Harrison, S. and Dourish, P. (1996). Re-place-ing space: The Role of Place and Space in Collavorative Systems. In *Proceedings of the 1996 ACM conference on Computer* supported cooperative work - CSCW '96, volume 7, pages 67–76, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.

- Harrison, S., Tatar, D., and Sengers, P. (2007). The three paradigms of HCI. In Alt. Chi. Session at the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–18.
- Harry, D., Gordon, E., and Schmandt, C. (2012). Setting the stage for interaction: A Tablet Application to Augment Group Discussion in a Seminar Class. In *Proceedings* of the ACM 2012 conference on Computer supported cooperative work, pages 1071–1081, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Harry, D., Green, J., and Donath, J. (2009). backchan.nl. In Proceedings of the 27th international conference on Human factors in computing systems, pages 1361–1370, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Hawthorne, J., Houston, J. B., and McKinney, M. S. (2013). Live-Tweeting a Presidential Primary Debate: Exploring New Political Conversations. *Social Science Computer Review*, 31(5):552–562.
- Held, D. (2006). Models of Democracy. Stanford University Press, Stanford.
- Holsapple, C. W. and Luo, W. (2003). A citation analysis of influences on collaborative computing research. *Computer Supported Cooperative Work: CSCW: An International Journal*, 12(3):351–366.
- Ishii, H. (2008). Tangible bits. In Proceedings of the 2nd international conference on Tangible and embedded interaction - TEI '08, page xv, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Jacucci, G., Oulasvirta, A., Ilmonen, T., Evans, J., and Salovaara, A. (2007). CoMedia : Mobile Group Media for Active Spectatorship. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference* on Human Factors in Computing System, pages 1273–1282.
- Jacucci, G., Spagnolli, A., Freeman, J., and Gamberini, L. (2014). Symbiotic interaction: a critical definition and comparison to other human-computer paradigms. In *International* Workshop on Symbiotic Interaction, pages 3–20. Springer.
- Johansen, R., Sibbet, D., Benson, S., Martin, A., Mittman, R., and Saffo, P. (1991). Leading business teams: How teams can use technology and group process tools to enhance performance. Addison-Wesley Longman Publishing Co., Inc.
- Johnson, R., Rogers, Y., van der Linden, J., and Bianchi-Berthouze, N. (2012). Being in the Thick of In-the-wild Studies: The Challenges and Insights of Researcher Participation. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1135–1144.
- Jordan, B. and Henderson, A. (1995). Interaction Analysis: Foundations and Practice. Journal of the Learning Sciences, 4(1):39–103.
- Karikoski, J. and Nelimarkka, M. (2010). Measuring Social Relations: Case OtaSizzle. In 2010 IEEE Second International Conference on Social Computing, pages 257–263. Ieee.
- Kay, J. S. and Road, M. H. (2011). Contextualized Approaches to Introductory Computer Science : The Key to Making Computer Science Relevant or Simply Bait and Switch ? *Computer*, pages 177–182.
- Kay, R. H. and LeSage, A. (2009). Examining the benefits and challenges of using audience response systems: A review of the literature. *Computers & Education*, 53(3):819–827.

- Kelty, C., Panofsky, A., Currie, M., Crooks, R., Erickson, S., Garcia, P., Wartenbe, M., and Wood, S. (2015). Seven dimensions of contemporary participation disentangled. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 66(3):474–488.
- Kim, J., Ko, E.-y., Jung, J., Lee, C. W., Kim, N. W., and Kim, J. (2015a). Factful: Engaging Taxpayers in the Public Discussion of a Government Budget. In *Proceedings* of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '15, pages 2843–2852, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Kim, J. W., Kim, D., Keegan, B., Kim, J. H., Kim, S., and Oh, A. (2015b). Social Media Dynamics of Global Co-presence During the 2014 FIFA World Cup. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '15, pages 2623–2632, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Kirby, M. (1987). A formalist theatre. University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Kitchin, R. (2014). Big Data, new epistemologies and paradigm shifts. *Big Data & Society*, 1(1):1–12.
- Klein, M. (2012). Enabling large-scale deliberation using attention-mediation metrics. Computer Supported Cooperative Work: CSCW: An International Journal, 21:449–473.
- Kriplean, T., Morgan, J., Freelon, D., Borning, A., and Bennett, L. (2012). Supporting reflective public thought with considerit. In *Proceedings of the ACM 2012 conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work - CSCW '12*, page 265, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Kuikkaniemi, K. (2017). LAIX-Score. A Design Framework for Live Audience Interaction Management Systems. PhD thesis, Aalto University.
- Kuikkaniemi, K., Lehtinen, V., Nelimarkka, M., Vilkki, M., Ojala, J., and Jacucci, G. (2013). Designing for presenters at public walk-up-and-use displays. In *Proceedings* of the 8th International Conference on Tangible, Embedded and Embodied Interaction, pages 225–232, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Kurvinen, E., Koskinen, I., and Battarbee, K. (2008). Prototyping Social Interaction. Design Issues, 24(3):46–57.
- Laaksonen, S.-M., Nelimarkka, M., Tuokko, M., Marttila, M., Kekkonen, A., and Villi, M. (2017). Working the fields of big data: Using big-data-augmented online ethnography to study candidate-candidate interaction at election time. *Journal of Information Technology & Politics*, 14(1):1–22.
- Lapinski, M. K. (2005). An Explication of Social Norms. Communication Theory, 15(2):127–147.
- Larsson, A. O. and Christensen, C. (2016). From showroom to chat room: SVT on social media during the 2014 Swedish elections. *Convergence: The International Journal of Research into New Media Technologies*, pages 1–16.
- Le Dantec, C. (2012). Participation and publics. In Proceedings of the 2012 ACM annual conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '12, page 1351, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Lee, J. S. and Tatar, D. (2014). Sounds of silence: Exploring Contributions to Conversations, Non-Responses and the Impact of Mediating Technologies in Triple Space. In Proceedings of the 17th ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work & social computing, pages 1561–1572, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.

- Livingstone, S., Haddon, L., Görzig, A., and Ólafsson, K. (2011). Risks and safety on the internet. The perspective of European children. Full findings and policy implications from the EU Kids Online survey of, pages 9–16.
- Lucero, A., Holopainen, J., and Jokela, T. (2012a). Mobicomics: collaborative use of mobile phones and large displays for public expression. In *Proceedings of the 14th international* conference on Human-computer interaction with mobile devices and services, pages 383– 392. ACM.
- Lucero, A., Holopainen, J., and Jokela, T. (2012b). MobiComics: collaborative use of mobile phones and large displays for public expression. Proceedings of the 14th international conference on Human-computer interaction with mobile devices and services, pages 383–392.
- Lukes, S. (2005). Power. A Radical View. Palgrave Macmillan, Basingstoke.
- March, J. G. (1991). How Decisions Happen in Organizations. Human-Computer Interaction, 6(2):95–117.
- Markham, A. and Buchanan, E. (2012). Ethical decision-making and internet research: Recommendations from the aoir ethics working committee (version 2.0). Technical report.
- Marshall, J., Linehan, C., Spence, J., and Rennick Egglestone, S. (2017a). Throwaway Referencing of Prior Work Risks Unleashing a Deluge of Bad HCI. *In submission, alt.chi* 2017, pages 827–836.
- Marshall, J., Linehan, C., Spence, J. C., and Rennick Egglestone, S. (2017b). A Little Respect: Four Case Studies of HCI's Disregard for Other Disciplines. In Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI EA '17, pages 848–857, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Maruyama, M. T., Robertson, S. P., Douglas, S. K., Semaan, B. C., and Faucett, H. A. (2014). Hybrid media consumption. In Proceedings of the 17th ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work & social computing - CSCW '14, pages 1422–1432, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- McCarthy, J. F. and {b}oyd, {d}. (2005). Digital backchannels in shared physical spaces. In *CHI '05 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems*, page 1641, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- McMillan, D., Morrison, A., Brown, O., Hall, M., and Chalmers, M. (2010). Further into the Wild: Running Worldwide Trials of Mobile Systems. In Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics), volume 6030 LNCS, pages 210–227.
- McPherson, K., Huotari, K., Cheng, Y.-S. F., Humphrey, D., Chesire, C., and Brooks, A. L. (2012). Glitter: a mixed-methods study of twitter use during glee broadcasts. In *Proceedings of the ACM 2012 conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work Companion*, pages 167–170.
- Meyer-Dinkgräfe, D. (2015). Liveness: Phelan, auslander, and after. Journal of Dramatic Theory and Criticism, 29(2):69–79.
- Michelis, D. and Müller, J. (2011). The Audience Funnel: Observations of Gesture Based Interaction With Multiple Large Displays in a City Center. International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction, 27(6):562–579.

- Mutz, D. C. (2008). Is Deliberative Democracy a Falsifiable Theory? Annual Review of Political Science, 11(1):521–538.
- National Advisory Board on Research Ethics (2009). Ethical principles of research in the humanities and social and behavioural sciences and proposals for ethical review. http://www.tenk.fi/sites/tenk.fi/files/ethicalprinciples.pdf.
- Nelimarkka, M. and Karikoski, J. (2012). Categorizing and measuring social ties. In RC33 Eighth International Conference on Social Science Methodology.
- Ngwenyama, O. K. and Lyytinen, K. J. (1997). Groupware Environments as Action Constitutive Resources: A Social Action Framework for Analyzing Groupware Technologies. *Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW)*, 6(1):71–93.
- Nissenbaum, H. (2005). Values in Technical Design. In Mitcham, C., editor, *Encyclopedia of Science, Technology, and Ethics*, pages lxvi–lxx. MacMillan, New York.
- Nunamaker, J. F., Briggs, R. O., Mittleman, D. D., Vogel, D. R., and Pierre, B. A. (1996). Lessons from a Dozen Years of Group Support Systems Research: A Discussion of Lab and Field Findings. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 13(3):163–207.
- Nunamaker, J. F. J., Applegate, L. M., and Konsynski, B. R. (1987). Facilitating Group Creativity: Experience with a Group Decision Support System. *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 3(4):5–19.
- Office of Communications (2016). The communications market report.
- Oulasvirta, A. (2012). Rethinking Experimental Designs for Field Evaluations. *IEEE Pervasive Computing*, 11(4):60–67.
- Peterson, N. A., Speer, P. W., and McMillan, D. W. (2008). Validation of a brief sense of community scale: Confirmation of the principal theory of sense of community. *Journal* of community psychology, 36(1):61–73.
- Pineau, E. L. (1994). Teaching is performance: Reconceptualizing a problematic metaphor. American Educational Research Journal, 31(1):3–25.
- Reeves, S. (2011). Designing interfaces in public settings: Understanding the role of the spectator in Human-Computer Interaction. Springer, London.
- Reeves, S., Benford, S., O'Malley, C., and Fraser, M. (2005). Designing the spectator experience. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing* systems - CHI '05, page 741, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Reinecke, K., Nguyen, M. K., Bernstein, A., Näf, M., and Gajos, K. Z. (2013). Doodle around the world: online scheduling behavior reflects cultural differences in time perception and group decision-making. In *Proceedings of the 2013 conference on Computer* supported cooperative work, pages 45–54. ACM.
- Reinelt, J. G. and Roach, J. R. (1992). Critical theory and performance. University of Michigan Press: Ann Arbor.
- Rekimoto, J., Ayatsuka, Y., Uoi, H., and Arai, T. (1998). Adding another communication channel to reality. In CHI 98 conference summary on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '98, pages 271–272, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Robinson, L. and Schulz, J. (2013). Net Time Negotiations Within the Family. Information, Communication & Society, 16(4):542–560.

- Rodríguez-Triana, M. J., Holzer, A., Prieto, L. P., and Gillet, D. (2016). Examining the Effects of Social Media in Co-located Classrooms: A Case Study Based on SpeakUp. In Proceedings of 11th European Conference on Technology Enhanced Learning, EC-TEL 2016, volume 9891, pages 247–262.
- Rogers, Y. (2011). Interaction design gone wild. Interactions, 18(4):58–62.
- Rogers, Y. and Rodden, T. (2003). Public and Situated Displays.
- Rovai, A. P. (2002). Development of an instrument to measure classroom community. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 5(3):197–211.
- Ryfe, D. M. (2005). Does Deliberative Democracy work? Annual Review of Political Science, 8(1):49–71.
- Sassen, S. (2002). Towards a Sociology of Information Technology. Current Sociology, 50(3):365–388.
- Schechner, R. (2013). Performance studies: An introduction. Routledge.
- Schmidt, K. (2009). Divided by a common acronym: On the fragmentation of CSCW. In Proc Europ Conf on ComputerSupported Cooperative Work, volume 3, pages 223–232.
- Schmidt, K. and Bannon, L. (1992). Taking CSCW seriously Supporting articulation work. Computer Supported Cooperative Work, 1(1-2):7–40.
- Schmidt, K. and Bannon, L. (2013). Constructing CSCW: The first quarter century. Computer Supported Cooperative Work: CSCW: An International Journal, 22(4-6):345– 372.
- Sellen, A., Rogers, Y., Harper, R., and Rodden, T. (2009). Reflecting human values in the digital age. Communications of the ACM, 52(3):58–66.
- Semaan, B., Faucett, H., Robertson, S. P., Maruyama, M., and Douglas, S. (2015). Designing Political Deliberation Environments to Support Interactions in the Public Sphere. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '15, pages 3167–3176.
- Semaan, B. C., Robertson, S. P., Douglas, S., and Maruyama, M. (2014). Social media supporting political deliberation across multiple public spheres. In Proceedings of the 17th ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work & social computing -CSCW '14, pages 1409–1421, New York, New York, USA. ACM Press.
- Sheridan, J. G., Dix, A., Lock, S., and Bayliss, A. (2005). Understanding interaction in ubiquitous guerrilla performances in playful arenas. In *Proceedings of HCI 2004: People* and Computers XVIII – Design for Life., pages 3–17.
- Smith, G. (2009). Democratic innovations: designing institutions for citizen participation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Spence, J., Frohlich, D., and Andrews, S. (2013). Performative experience design: where autobiographical performance and human–computer interaction meet. *Digital Creativity*, 24(2):96–110.
- Steenbergen, M. R., Bächtigerb, A., Spörndlib, M., and Steine, J. (2003). Measuring Political Deliberation: A Discourse Quality Index. Comparative European Politics, 1(1):21–48.

- Stoker, G. (2010). Translating Experiments into Policy. The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 628(1):47–58.
- Strauss, A. (1985). Work and the division of labor. The Sociological Quarterly, 26(1):1–19.
- Stromer-Galley, J. (2004). Interactivity-as-Product and Interactivity-as-Process. The Information Society, 20(5):391–394.
- Sturm, C., Oh, A., Linxen, S., Abdelnour Nocera, J., Dray, S., and Reinecke, K. (2015). How weird is hci?: Extending hci principles to other countries and cultures. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 2425–2428. ACM.
- Trilling, D. (2014). Two Different Debates? Investigating the Relationship Between a Political Debate on TV and Simultaneous Comments on Twitter. Social Science Computer Review, 33(3):0894439314537886-.
- Tuokko, M., Nelimarkka, M., Laaksonen, S.-M., and Valkonen, T. (in review). Shouting at empty walls? a micro-level perspective on communicative functions in the social interaction between the candidates and the constituents during parliamentary election campaigning.
- Wagenknecht, S., Erickson, I., Østerlund, C., Mazmanian, M., and Bjørn, P. (2017). Theory transfers?: Social theory & cscw research. In *Companion of the 2017 ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing*, CSCW '17 Companion, pages 371–376, New York, NY, USA. ACM.
- Weiss, C. H. (1993). Where Politics and Evaluation Research Meet. American Journal of Evaluation, 14(1):93–106.
- Wilson, M., Mackay, W., Chi, E., Bernstein, M., and Nichols, J. (2012). Replichi sig: From a panel to a new submission venue for replication. In CHI'12 Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1185–1188. ACM.
- Winner, L. (1985). Do artifacts have politics? In MacKenzie, D. and Wajcman, J., editors, The social shaping of technology, pages 26–38. Open University Press, Buckingham.
- Yardi, S. (2006). The role of the backchannel in collaborative learning environments. In Proceedings of the 7th international conference on Learning sciences, pages 852–858.